

VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Policy and Practice in the field of Special Needs Education

Literature Review



VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING Policy and Practice in the field of Special Needs Education

Literature Review



Lifelong Learning Programme

The production of this document has been supported by the DG Education and Culture of the European Commission: http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education culture/index en.htm

This publication reflects the views only of the project partners and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

Edited by: Anabel Corral Granados, Staff member, European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Extracts from the document are permitted provided that a clear reference to the source is given. This report should be referenced as follows: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education (2012) *Vocational Education and Training: Policy and Practice in the field of Special Needs Education – Literature Review,* Odense, Denmark: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

More information on the project can be found at the project web area: http://www.european-agency.org/agency-projects/vocational-education-and-training

ISBN (Print): 978-87-7110-409-7 ISBN (Electronic): 978-87-7110-410-3

© European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education 2012

Secretariat
Østre Stationsvej 33
DK-5000 Odense C Denmark
Tel: +45 64 41 00 20
secretariat@european-agency.org

Brussels Office
3 Avenue Palmerston
BE-1000 Brussels Belgium
Tel: +32 2 280 33 59
brussels.office@european-agency.org

www.european-agency.org



CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	5
1.1 Development of VET across the EU	5
1.2 Towards the inclusion of people with disabilities/SEN	7
1.3 An outline of key challenges in VET	8
1.4 Relevant Agency work	9
1.5 Methodology for the literature review	.10
2. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	.12
2.1 Target group	.13
3. KNOWLEDGE BASE RELATING TO VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING WITHIN EUROPEAN BASIC EDUCATION – OPENING OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE FUTURE	.16
4. ACCESS AND CHOICE IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING	
4.1 Gender exclusion	.19
5. TYPES OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING SETTINGS	.20
5.1 VET in centres for learners with special educational needs	.20
5.2 Compensatory vocational education	.22
5.3 Towards the inclusion of learners with special educational needs in mainstream education	.23
5.4 Towards the inclusion of mainstream students in special vocational units	.24
5.5 Flexible vocational and general education options for all in secondary education	.25
5.6 Training in mainstream settings	.25
6. KEY FACTORS THAT FACILITATE VOCATIONAL EDUCATIONAL AND TRAINING FOR LEARNERS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS EDUCATION: RELATIONSHIP WITH LABOUR MARKET	G 27
6.1 Co-operation of actors involved in school and training settings	
6.2 Co-ordination of sectors and services	
6.3 Learner involvement and individual needs in vocational education and training	
6.4 Vocational skills and interpersonal knowledge related to future working outcomes	
6.5 Flexible policies and measures	
6.6 Relationship between VET and the labour market for learners in special needs education	
6.7 Role of trainers or mentors in vocational education and training	
6.8 Role of career counsellors and implementation of transition plans	.37
7. KEY CHALLENGES FOR VET AND THE RELATIONSHIP WITH THE LABOUR	
MARKET	
7.1 Drop out from VET and possible solutions	.40

7.2 Limited implementation of measures and co-ordination of services	41
7.3 Limited career assessment tools	42
7.4 Relationship of VET to job practices and accessibility to the job market	43

REFERENCES45



1. INTRODUCTION

Globalisation and an ageing population have brought about significant changes in the course of the last decade (Karmel and Maclean, 2007; Walker, 2009). There has been rapid progress in the areas of information and communication technology, financial markets, business strategies, management practices and the working practices of organisations. The resulting impact on global economic systems requires urgent and innovative responses in the field of technical and vocational education and training (VET) services, as the demand for skills is now higher than ever before (Hogstedt, et al., 2007; Maclean and Lai, 2011). The European Commission (2006) considers that equity and efficiency are critical factors in making this changing situation sustainable for all and is therefore developing these factors within the European Union's long-term strategy, alongside competitiveness and social cohesion (Brown et al., 2001; Mosson and Fretwell, 2009). Education and training systems will serve as the 'main instrument' in addressing new circumstances, adapting to change and reaping the benefits of the changing global order (International Labour Organization, 2000).

1.1 Development of VET across the EU

The Lisbon Strategy was launched in 2000 with a view to making Europe 'the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world, capable of sustainable growth with more and better jobs and greater social cohesion' (European Council, 2000, section 8). Revised in 2004, the Strategy aimed to unify social and employment policies with a focus on modernising the European Social Model. This modernisation was to be achieved by investing in people and building an active welfare state through education and training systems. An emphasis was placed 'not only on activating the unemployed in an attempt to reconnect them with the labour market and reduce overall levels of unemployment, but also on activating the economically inactive' (Annesley, 2007, p. 198).

Within the framework of the Lisbon Strategy, the European Parliament and the Council launched a Community Action Programme (2004–2006) in order to promote various bodies active in the field of education and training at European level, as well as to support specific activities in the field of education and training (Official Journal, 2004).

Prior to this, the launch of the Copenhagen Process confirmed the involvement and cooperation of 33 European countries (EU, EEA and candidate countries), who have subsequently met several times in order to follow up on and monitor their practices in the VET field (European Commission, 2002). In recent years the initial objectives and priorities contained in the 'Copenhagen declaration' (European Parliament, 2010a) have been revised in order to align them with the EU's current focus on both establishing an effective response to the economic and financial crisis and developing further objectives and targets where these were not achieved by the Lisbon strategy. In 2010, the Commission and European VET Ministers agreed upon areas of VET in which further European cooperation is necessary, including measures that should be taken at both European and national level. They recognised the importance of the transparency, recognition and quality of competences and qualifications, in facilitating the mobility of learners and workers in the European countries and improving the quality of teacher education (European Commission, 2010a; European Commission, 2010b).

In terms of European level measures, the National Qualifications Framework (NQF) is an instrument for the development and classification of qualifications according to a set of criteria for the achievement of certain levels of learning (Organisation for Economic Coopeartion and Development/OECD, 2007). The European Quality Assurance Reference



Framework for Vocational Education and Training (EQAVET) was introduced as a tool to help Member States promote and monitor improvement in their educational systems by using a system based on a common European framework. Participating Member States present their policies in a report produced every four years, in order to develop a future Common Quality Assurance Framework (CQAF) (Official Journal of the European Union, 2008). In 2009, the ILO published the results of the Quality Assurance Framework's implementation, and concluded that the countries that receive positive responses from stakeholders are those that have adapted their existing educational system in order to make it more transparent, coherent and open to all learners (Raffe, 2009).

The European Credit System for Vocational Education and Training, which was established in 2009, contributes to the openness and coherence of European education systems. This system was developed in order to facilitate the transfer, recognition and accumulation of learning outcomes with the goal of transforming them into a qualification that would connect individual, organisational, local, regional, national and trans-national knowledge. The Credit System aims to improve the transfer of knowledge among Member States and promote the inclusion of labour market competences within different learning sectors. It also recognises that different areas of competences must all be valued. Participation in this policy framework is voluntary but countries that choose to participate are required to include all forms of learning outcomes in their new NQFs. The framework will therefore be made up of flexible, individual pathways for all learners, creating new levels of competences and new opportunities for the accessibility and recognition of different methods of teaching for learners with varied needs (Official Journal of the European Union, 2009).

In 2010, the European Parliament renewed the framework for co-operation in the youth field for the period 2010–2018. This framework aims to involve young people at the political level by means of a strategy known as the open method of co-ordination. It therefore works on the basis that all actors, from young people to experts and politicians, should be involved in the policy drafting process. The framework intends that young people in particular assist in drafting future policies relating to the youth sector. (European Parliament, 2010d). It also highlights the importance of developing clear indicators for future evaluations. An example of this initiative in practice is the launch of the European Parliament's traineeship programme for people with disabilities (European Parliament, 2006).

There are still many improvements to be made at European level, and these have been acknowledged within the framework of the EU 2020 Strategy. Launched on 3 March 2010, this strategy includes a headline target of increasing the employment rate across the EU to 70% and also seeks to create jobs. Among the objectives is the furthering of co-operation between EU Member States in the promotion of learner mobility (European Commission, 2010d). The Strategy emphasises that urgent action is needed in response to the 2008 crisis, which is the worst Europe has faced since the late 1930s (Fabregas-Fernandez, 2011).

The European Council (2000), ILO (2000) and European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (Cedefop, 2001) all agree that future programmes should principally focus on adapting to the demands of a knowledge-based society and improving the level and quality of employment. The programmes must seek to enhance the employability, productivity and income-earning capacity of target groups, especially vulnerable groups such as learners with disabilities, and enable everybody to participate fully in society with autonomy and independence. Indeed, the European Commission has stressed that the EU 2020 Strategy will be successful only if the most vulnerable groups are taken into consideration, and the access of young people with disabilities to the labour market is



ensured. Furthermore, the ILO states that access to vocational education and training should be a right for all European citizens (ILO, 2004).

A specific example of a response to the Europe 2020 objectives is a Lithuanian programme launched in 2011, where teacher education in a vocational school is carried out in various settings during daily routines. This practice has been extremely valuable in increasing teacher awareness of student diversity and demonstrating how to promote pedagogical improvement and improved managerial skills among teachers (Kaikkonen, 2010).

1.2 Towards the inclusion of people with disabilities/SEN

The Lisbon Strategy constituted a positive step for groups that had traditionally been excluded from the labour market. The aims of the Lisbon Strategy, specifically the inclusive policies relating to disadvantaged learners including those with learning difficulties and disabilities, were also emphasised in the Council Conclusions of May 2007 on a coherent framework of indicators and benchmarks for monitoring progress towards the Lisbon objectives in education and training, and the Council Conclusions of May 2009 on a Strategic Framework for European Cooperation in Education and Training (OECD and European Commission, 2009).

The EU Disability Action Plan 2003–10 (European Commission, 2003) prioritised the development of policies at national level that aimed to improve accessibility for all. The Commission utilised this initiative to encourage Member States to collect information and publish reports evidencing their progress in this area.

Further relevant measures include the Council Directive 2000/78/EC (Employment Framework Directive) which aims to promote equal opportunities and combat discrimination on several grounds, including disability, in employment, self-employment and occupation (European Commission, 2000). As of 2006, or 2007 in the case of the recently acceded countries Bulgaria and Romania, all Member States are required to have incorporated the directive into their domestic law. Many Member States have already implemented this directive at national level (The Citizens Information Board, 2011). The European Commission is responsible for monitoring Member State practices and responding to any failure to properly implement legislation, including through launching enforcement procedures in the European Courts (Council of the European Union, 2004).

In the last few years there has, therefore, been a visible shift at the European level towards integrating people with disabilities into the labour market. Unfortunately however, the direct impact of programmes has not been monitored and evaluated because, in the majority of cases, programmes have been implemented through traditional procedures and without alternative support (Greve, 2009). Nevertheless, practices identified as effective include vocational training programmes that establish specific measures for learners with SEN and employers, such as funding for the adaptation of infrastructure and workplaces and tax incentives (Shima et al., 2008).

Through its community action programme Socrates, the European Commission has created special grants for young people with disabilities through various programmes at different levels. The Leonardo Da Vinci programme is dedicated to vocational education and training and aims to support the improvement of vocational training systems in the Member States by enhancing the language skills of participants and disseminating innovative practices in this area of work. (European Commission, 1995, 2000). The programme also finances projects that seek to improve the quality of training for people with disabilities. The 'Agora' project, for example, was developed in 1996 and sought to identify the factors contributing to the low percentage of young people with disabilities



entering the labour market following their initial vocational training in the United Kingdom, Italy and Greece (Leonardo da Vinci, 1996). Another relevant programme is 'Vomasi', which was developed with the main aim of bringing together leading European experts in the area of employment of people with developmental disabilities. The experts analysed existing policies aimed at promoting vocational mobility, rehabilitation and training for people with developmental disabilities in Europe (Leonardo da Vinci, 2002).

The European Commission, under the umbrella of the 6th Framework programme, has promoted other significant projects such as 'Opti-work' (optimising strategies for integrating people with disabilities into work). This project began in 2006 and lasted 3 years, involving partners from the Netherlands, Ireland, the United Kingdom, Finland, Greece and Belgium. Researchers evaluated the implementation of national policies relating to vocational education and training that affect disabled persons across these European countries, in areas such as vocational assessment, aids and support for adults looking to come back to work (McDaid and Matosevic, 2008).

Furthermore, for the first time at European level, a research project has been developed using statistical analysis to compare the training and employment situations of young people with and without disabilities at European Level. The European Commission launched this research in 2007 and sought to show that the training and employment situation of disabled people is far worse than that of non-disabled people. People with disabilities tend to only attain the lowest levels of education; only 63% of the 16–19 age group considered restricted in their ability to work participate in education and training, compared with 83% of non- disabled people. The employment rate of disabled people is 50%, far below the rest of the population (68%) and only 27% of young people aged 16 to 24 are employed, compared with 45% of non-disabled people (SEC, 2007).

1.3 An outline of key challenges in VET

The investigation into potential solutions to the issues outlined above is complex in the European context. The vocational education and training systems in Europe encompass a wide range of legislation, education and training structures and key actors, including governments and social partners. This diversity is increasing with the enlargement of the European Union (Schlicht et al., 2010). However, although the approaches and policies in respect of people with disabilities vary substantially (Official Journal of the European Communities, 2003; Sapir, 2006), there does exist a common focus on integrating and including learners with special educational needs in mainstream society and ensuring that their rights are respected (ILO, 1999a). It is nevertheless important that, in addition to policy analysis, this literature review takes into account the diversity of needs across the group of learners with disabilities or special educational needs as well as the variation in European educational systems and resources. This heterogeneity creates complex settings that can teach us valuable lessons about unique solutions which have worked in specific situations.

This review acknowledges the urgent need for European educational institutions to effectively promote knowledge based skills and competences that enable individuals to adapt quickly to the aforementioned changes associated with globalisation (European Commission, 2008). At the same time, these institutions must avoid any form of discrimination and ensure that they promote equity in future employment outcomes (ILO, 2000).

It is also important to highlight the challenging circumstances experienced by many young people in Europe: 1 young person in every 7 leaves school early and 1 in every 4 fifteen-year-olds has poor reading skills. It has been predicted that the number of illiterate young



people will rise in the coming years. Following the publication of these statistics in 2010, the European Parliament decided to make addressing these circumstances an urgent priority (European Parliament, 2010c). In a non-legislative Resolution, it observed that the unemployment rate among young people is double the overall rate of unemployment in the EU and is therefore one of the most important issues to be addressed, together with reducing the school drop-out rate. In selecting these particular areas of focus, the Parliament recognises that the participation of young people in education and training directly influences their potential to be included in the labour market. Indeed, the Resolution recommends that European countries respond to this worsening situation as a matter of urgency, in light of the fact that unemployment among young people increases their risk of social exclusion, poverty and a general lack of opportunities. It also states that vocational education and training should be of a high standard and tailored to learners' individual needs, with particular attention being paid to the integration of specific groups including people with disabilities (European Parliament, 2010b). The European Parliament further stressed that Member States should guarantee flexibility in the labour market with the principal aim of helping young people to find jobs. Concrete measures were outlined, such as facilitating the mobility of learners within Europe during study periods and traineeships, modernising vocational education and training programmes with a focus on including key competences, recognising educational credits from extra curricula experiences such as volunteer and community work, and encouraging a better transition between secondary vocational education and training and higher education (European Parliament, 2010c and 2010d).

1.4 Relevant Agency work

In 1999, the European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education initiated a literature review of documents produced in the period 1996-1999 relating to the employment of learners with special educational needs. This was the starting point for European research into compulsory education (secondary and vocational education and training centres) with a focus on the future employment of learners in special needs education. The literature review was later complemented by analysis conducted in 16 different European countries for the Transition from School to Employment project (Soriano, 2002). This project examined the main challenges facing young people with special educational needs and their families and professionals, with a particular focus on the facilitating factors and barriers in the transition from school to employment. Following this key undertaking by the Agency, it is important to elaborate upon the project's findings relating to vocational training research. Among the principal challenges identified in the project were the following: the educational content of vocational training is not sufficiently related to the needs of the labour market, learners with special educational needs are segregated and their learning is not oriented towards complex professions requiring diplomas. The project also examined possible ways of overcoming these challenges, such as increased co-operation between all parties involved, adaptations of curricula and flexibility in training practices. These proposed solutions will also be considered as part of the current research, in order to assess whether there have been any significant changes over the past 9 years.

The project entitled *Individual Transition Plans: Supporting the Move from School to Employment* (Soriano, 2006) was a continuation of the project discussed above and focused on the development of an Individual Transition Plan (ITP) as the main facilitator for the future employment of learners with special educational needs. The rationale for the project was the need for and benefits of the development of an ITP. The project developed a practical guide for professionals and concluded that vocational and training skills are essential for obtaining future employment and must be well co-ordinated between actors in



the education system and job market. It is therefore clear that the research now being conducted on European vocational education and training programmes and the employment of young adults with special educational needs forms part of a necessary and innovative project.

1.5 Methodology for the literature review

This document aims to provide a detailed literature review of the state of Vocational Education and Training (VET) related issues for learners with special educational needs. According to the Agency's approved Multi-annual Work Programme (2007–2013) this review is intended to complement the *Vocational Education and Training – Policy and Practice in the field of Special Needs Education* (VET) project in its preparatory phase. The literature review takes account of existing research literature in the field of VET and SEN and uses this information to ensure that the project utilises suitable methods and theories of research in its generation and analysis of data.

The principal methods used to search for literature were computer searches in abstract databases and citation indexes, browsing library shelves and online catalogues, and 'Footnote Chasing' or conducting searches in subject indexes for references in peer reviewed articles (Cooper and Hedges, 1994). The coverage of the literature review was exhaustive, with a predominant focus on European and International vocational documents, studies in academic journals indexed in education, economics and social science databases (e.g. Academic Search Premier ASSIA, CERUK, EBSCOhost, EMERALD, ERIC, IBSS, ISI WEB OF KNOWLEDGE, Professional Development Collection, PsycINFO, VOCED, PUBMED, Education: A SAGE Full Text Collection, SOCIOFILE), books and research work (Anglia Ruskin University in Chelmsford, United Kingdom and British Library, London, UK), international and European reports and relevant European funded projects (Commission of the European Communities, Council of Europe, Cedefop, ILO, UNESCO). The literature research was structured to primarily focus on the conceptual terms linking both VET and SEN and their synonyms. The research only includes studies focusing on VET within compulsory education and focuses mainly on literature that is no more than 15 years old. The relevance and acceptability of the research methodology used were also two key factors (Cooper, 1998). The descriptive analysis of the literature has been prepared by extracting the key results and important attributes to give a useful picture of the issues already investigated as well as to highlight existing gaps in the literature. The common methodological practices and bases for assessment are also highlighted, particularly in the areas in which VET has been effective (Cooper and Hedges, 1994). Thematic synthesis was the literature review method employed. This method is recommended as the preferred research technique for decisionmaking, as it transforms the results from primary qualitative and qualitative research into reliable answers to particular questions (Lucas et al., 2007). The texts were coded according to the similarities and differences between them, in order to achieve a hierarchical structure of the foremost descriptive themes in terms of relevance and presence across studies. When the synthesis was finalised, these were grouped into a list of themes going beyond the content of the original studies, hence transforming them into answers relevant to the objectives of this study (Thomas and Harden, 2008).

This review provides an analysis of the research relating to vocational education and training for learners with special educational needs, their relationship with the labour market and the key challenges they face. Each document has been analysed according to the research outcomes, research methods, theories and application to practice in order to identify the central issues (Sandelowski and Barroso, 2007).



The next section of this review will outline the Agency VET project focus on learners with special educational needs and will then present the literature on vocational education and training settings and key factors and challenges in taking forward this vital area of work.



2. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The principles of Universal Instructional Design (UID) require that technological and pedagogical tools are adaptable to all learners, and this ensures that all potential needs are considered in the process of development (Evans, 2008). The UID has been recognised within several areas of specialisation including architecture and cognitive neuroscience (Higbee, 2003), educational doctrines (Blamires, 1999) and human resources (Vreeburg Izzo et al., 2001). It constitutes an ideological shift from focusing on the learner's disability itself to considering the direct influence of the environment on the 'functional limitations attached to the disability' (Higbee, 2003, p. 8) and therefore combines the best methods for adapting structures to all learners (Shmitz, et al., 2009) These methods include innovative teaching methods that reflect the diversity of all learners (Strobel et al., 2007) including 'learning challenges' which are acknowledged as a normal phenomenon of human diversity (Mcguire et al., 2006). In terms of learning, UID requires that the design of instructions, materials and activities creates feasible learning objectives (Burgstahler, 2005). This philosophy goes further in conceptualising disability using the social model instead of the medical model and recognises that many 'capabilities and opportunities were being restricted or curtailed by poor social organisation' (Makin, 2001, p. 185). The disability rights paradigm should be considered as an essential starting point for analysis.

This literature review intends to use the above ideas as a theoretical baseline for approaching inclusion. The ideological shift means that it is essential to take into account in all fields, the 'exceptional nature of each learner and the need to accommodate these differences by building learning experiences that suit individuals and maximise their ability to progress'. These ideas were formulated over 40 years ago when an architect and wheelchair user named Ronald Mace proposed that all physical environments should be able to accommodate all users. This idea was followed by cognitive psychology studies that affirmed the enormous individual differences in learning styles and preferences. It is therefore important that all interested parties are able to participate in the education process and enjoy richer experiences. Above all, learners should be motivated and engaged and, most importantly, actually have the opportunity to be a learner in the first place, which is the most essential aim of this model (Eagleton, 2008) This moral imperative must allow for the development of the capabilities and talents of all individuals in order to deliver opportunities to them (Ashley Stein, 2007). These ideas were incorporated into a progressive document entitled 'The Madrid Declaration', which was developed under the Spanish Presidency of the EU following the European Congress of People with Disabilities (European Disability Forum, 2002). This declaration proposed a framework of actions to be launched during the European Year of People with Disabilities in 2003. These actions aimed to promote equal opportunities, non-discrimination and social justice. Specifically, the Declaration aimed to promote the access of people with disabilities into mainstream employment and education systems as the most important way of fighting social exclusion and promoting the autonomy and dignity of disabled people (European Disability Forum, 2002).

The following instruments enshrine the most fundamental human rights related to this field: the European Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (Council of Europe, 1950), the ILO standards on Human Resources Development (Convention 142, 1975 and a Recommendation in 2004), the ILO Convention concerning the Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment of Disabled Persons (number 159, 1983), the Standard Rules on the Equalisation of Opportunities for Persons with Disabilities (United Nations/UN, 1993) and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with



Disabilities (UN, 2006). All EU Member States have signed the UN Convention and on the 23rd of December 2010 the European Union also ratified it (Clifford, 2011). In addition, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization's 2012 global monitoring report describes the discourses around policies that are effective beyond formal education, exploring skills that prepare youth and adults for the world of work (informal education, apprenticeship and enterprise based training) as well as the policies that need to be improved (UNESCO and Adams, 2011).

In spite of these instruments, many disabled people in Europe still do not enjoy many fundamental rights such as the right to work and the right to education (Council of Europe, 2003; Kanter, 2007). Further research is essential in order to shed light on this particular situation.

2.1 Target group

Little research is available concerning vocational education and training programmes in Europe designed to meet the needs of particular groups. The few studies that do focus on specific groups of learners in VET use significantly different terminology to describe these groups. As observed by UNESCO (2002), individuals with special educational needs are, in relation to the labour market, usually categorised as marginalised or at risk of social exclusion. Recent studies, perhaps as a result of the worldwide economic crisis (Carone, et al., 2009), have confirmed an increase in groups being categorised as at risk of social exclusion (Buiskool et al., 2009). Nowadays the makeup of this group is so complex that, in the majority of cases, it is difficult to ascertain the real needs of learners with disabilities (Anuncibay, 2007). According to the UN Convention, 'Persons with disabilities include those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which, in interaction with various barriers, may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others' (Article 1, 2008, p. 4). Those referred to as 'socially excluded' form a very heterogeneous group because all of the individuals, identities, personal needs and circumstances within it are unique and shaped by multiple factors (Mansell and Steinmueller, 2000). Among these factors 'disability is another dimension' that most of the population experiences at some stage in the course of their lifetime (Powers and ILO, 2008).

The aforementioned studies also highlight the importance of conducting research around learners with special educational needs. Learners with special educational needs have often been denied access to basic education, which limits their future skills acquisition and puts them at a very specific and notable disadvantage, reflected in their lack of access to and participation in economic growth (ILO, 2008). It is therefore of the utmost importance that the lack of available data is addressed. This issue was highlighted by a group of scholars from Greece who intended to develop a descriptive study focusing on the situation of people with intellectual disabilities. The authors concluded that, due to the lack of national data and rigorous research, they were unable to complete the study (Anagnostopoulos and Soumaki, 2011). Strengthening the availability and quality of data could increase the potential for drawing comparisons between European countries on the present situation and the vocational outcomes for young Europeans with special educational needs (OECD, 2004). The data could also assist in further developing provision for vocational education and training, preferably with a focus on improving access to employment (ILO, 1999a).

Analytical vocational education and training studies confirm that choice and provision in VET vary according to defined categories of learners with special educational needs. In the Balearic Islands of Spain for example, learners with learning difficulties usually complete compulsory education and enter into a social guarantee programme or



employment insertion programme. They occasionally go on to intermediate level vocational training. Learners with hearing disabilities usually enter into training programmes, while the majority of learners with visual, sensory and motor disabilities continue with upper secondary education, higher education study courses and university studies (Rossello and Verger Gelabert, 2008).

European political advocacy needs to promote the gathering of data on students with SEN and further develop ideas or projects that work at the national level. The European Commission is focused on helping Member States to achieve better results that will enhance young people's quality of life by developing auxiliary policy co-operation on issues relating to learners with special educational needs in education and training (Commission of the European Communities 2008). The methods specified include: promoting personalised learning through timely support and well coordinated services, integrating services within mainstream schooling and ensuring pathways to further education and training (Commission of the European Communities, 2008). Furthermore, Member States and the European Union have tasked themselves with implementing the European Pact for Youth by adopting coherent European measures and VET policies (The Helsinki Communiqué, 2006) in order to reach the target group and take into account their needs, backgrounds and motivations (Official Journal of the European Union, 2007).

It is important to consider that, in many cases, being classified as a person with disabilities (and therefore often considered part of a minority group) can have a negative impact on a person's social environment. This impact is often greater than the impact of the disability itself (Cedefop, 2001). Researchers and policymakers therefore recommend that all learners be considered equal, without discrimination, according to the societal approach of normalisation of equal opportunities and provision of resources (Cedefop, 2008; Quisumbing and Leo, 2005). Furthermore, the European Council (2000) considers that learners with special educational needs should be a priority group in terms of VET initiatives, in order to promote equity and human-centred sustainable development (UNESCO, 2004). These themes were highlighted in 2009-10 at the UNESCO World Conference on Education for Sustainable Development (UNESCO, 2009). It is clear that educational policies cannot address educational disadvantage without the coordination of other factors, such as personal, social, cultural and economic aspects which, in combination, have the potential to restrict or enhance future educational opportunities. For example, if learners have been excluded during their early years despite the existence of inclusion policies in their country, then it is likely that they will also have a limited experience of inclusion and encounter institutionalisation at secondary level and in the future. It is therefore important to look at the pedagogical approaches used in the classroom that benefit all learners, not only 'the group at risk' (Cedefop, 2001).

A handful of studies have undertaken comprehensive analysis of programmes using multiple and interlinked sources to identify causes of disadvantage. These studies have served as a baseline for the development of effective policies and programmes to improve vocational education and training for learners with special educational needs (Freedman, 2008). They identify the concept of 'diversity' as an alternative to 'terms with negative connotations' or commonly used labels. This concept covers a number of dimensions such as cultural and linguistic diversity and social and gender related constraints on access to knowledge. These constraints are often associated with a series of factors, both 'intra' and 'extra' personal, while the idea of special educational needs is normally associated with learning difficulties, gifted children and children and adults with functional problems associated with their vision, mobility, hearing and cognition (Asin and Peinado, 2008).

Practices that acknowledge diversity aim for equality without regard to differences and focus on abilities such as strengths, skills and potential (ILO, 1999) as well as the unique



abilities, needs and interests of individuals (Schalock and Kelly, 1999). Disability should no longer focus on medical aspects internal to the individual; research should advance from this basic theory to a methodology using the social model of disability (Grönvik, 2009). By listening to young people with special educational needs in vocational training centres, it is possible to achieve a broader understanding of how to improve the educational experiences, which are so essential for their future lives and occupational status (Shah, 2005). Having a voice affects a person's status and their empowerment (Nagle, 2001) but the voices of young people need to be heard more clearly; there are very few options available for people with disabilities who attend segregated educational institutions or are part of a mainstream education system with inadequate funding to provide full inclusion (Shah, 2005) because they often have a limited choice of subjects and low labour expectations. Scholars such as Niesz, Koch and Rumrill (2008) have concluded that the direct involvement of people with disabilities in research is an empowering tool for 'being defined for themselves' (Niesz and Rumrill, 2008, p. 121).



3. KNOWLEDGE BASE RELATING TO VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING WITHIN EUROPEAN BASIC EDUCATION – OPENING OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE FUTURE

International and European institutions such as UNESCO, the ILO and the European Commission all recognise that basic education should be for all and should lead to employment for all. It should promote vocational knowledge that can be converted into opportunities not only for the individual but also for society as a whole (Figel, 2009). Therefore, in light of the fact that the vast majority of the labour force require technical and vocational knowledge, skills for life should be included as part of basic education curricula (UNESCO, 2004a). The option of 'vocationalising' or including a knowledge base relating to vocational education and training in primary and secondary curricula has also been suggested (UNESCO, 2002).

This philosophy acknowledges the range of society's needs, with knowledge, practical and social skills acknowledged as essential generic competences and brought together both in the curriculum and in terms of organisation. It is clear that the absence of basic skills such as numeracy and literacy makes it difficult to acquire the core skills that help to enhance employability and enable learners to find and retain employment and adapt to change (ILO, 2004). It is generally accepted that including the key generic competences and non occupation-specific practical capabilities within compulsory education could be a solution, which would also reduce the discrimination that occurs when learners are segregated into fixed ability groups, and in which they become aware that they are being tracked according to their level of performance (Peters and Oliver, 2009). Technical and vocational education should begin with a broad base and be designed so that it is 'an integral part of everyone's basic general education in the form of an initiation to technology, the world of work and human values and standards for responsible citizenship' (UNESCO 2004b, p. 10). By teaching basic skills for life and generic competencies (including the ability to identify, analyse and solve problems, the capacity to learn new skills and adapt to new work tasks and the ability to communicate with others and to learn and use information independently) it will be easier for young people to access the world of work. Entrepreneurship, civic responsibility, planning skills (UNESCO 2005), computer literacy and a grasp of simple scientific knowledge and technology (ILO, 2000) will also support this aim.

The Lisbon Council (2009) considered that education and training systems should involve social media and innovative learning opportunities and practices by including new technologies to prepare learners for the 21st century. Indeed, programmes and software have been developed in order to offer autonomy and help to overcome any barriers to communication. For example, the SEVERI (electronic learning environment) has been trialled in vocational and education settings in Lithuania, Hungary and Finland and has been confirmed as an effective tool for learners with severe learning disabilities (Starcic and Niskala, 2010). By drawing on 240 cases, 16 in-depth case studies and a workshop of experts, this study describes the experiences with e-learning (learning via the internet and social media) of students from Germany, Switzerland, Greece and Finland. Students with SEN who have worked with the platform within modules of vocational education and training highlighted that it supports learners working at different paces and using different cognitive styles and that, in general terms, it empowers them. Activities that could disadvantage dyslexic learners such as wikis or blog writing have also been compensated for by the use of alternative tools (Redecker and Punie, 2010).

In the European context, a gap has been identified between basic education, social and life skills instruction and the labour force skills desired by future employers (Tomblin and



Haring, 1999). This gap has been illustrated in a study in the context of Greece, which explored the impact of teachers using a limited range of resources for teaching social and life skills to young adults in adult training centres and schools for learners with learning disabilities. The study concluded that more contextualised learning to help generalisation would be a possible solution to the gap, and that teaching materials and curricula should support this pedagogy. Teachers believe that the implementation of innovative techniques should be considered, which requires support from school leaders and the promotion of flexibility and innovation (Dereka, 2001).



4. ACCESS AND CHOICE IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Access to VET should be available to all. Indeed, Article 14 of the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union (2000) states that everyone has the right to have access to vocational and continuing training and free compulsory education. This Article has proved influential in judgments of the European Court of Justice and is now legally binding following the Treaty of Lisbon. In particular, the VET option should be offered as a priority to groups experiencing exclusion who have not previously been considered for VET. This will facilitate their integration into society and help them to improve their potential productivity, employment and income-earning prospects (UNESCO, 2004b; ILO, 2008). In Ireland for example, vocational education and training centres have a high percentage of students with assessed disabilities (more than 10 percent) at post primary level compared to secondary, community and comprehensive schools (O'Gorman and Drudy, 2011).

In general however, European learners with special educational needs encounter a lack of opportunities and poor access to vocational education and training (ILO, 2008) and are still 'marginalised' as a result of not accessing the mainstream education system and being part of a school community (Nagle, 2001). Some of the causes of this marginalisation have been identified as a lack of in-class physical accessibility and related accommodation facilities (ILO, 1999b). In addition, an analysis of vocational training services in Greece reported a lack of statistical information and research, which makes the identification and monitoring of vocational services for people with learning disabilities in the country difficult. As a result, curricular flexibility was increased and specialised training of educational staff was undertaken to assure continuity for learners in their vocational and educational training (Tsiantis, 2006). Another illustration has been provided by Spanish research, which highlights that learners with special educational needs are at a 'higher social risk' than other groups, such as women or people dependent on drugs, as a result of greater difficulty in accessing training and vocational opportunities (Anuncibay, 2007).

Access is not the only challenge; the range of options open to learners with special educational needs is also limited. Ideally, learners with special educational needs would be presented with the same educational choices as other learners, but in practice – perhaps due to inadequate preparation or inaccessibility of provision to learners with disabilities – they are generally offered programmes oriented towards social welfare, leading to low skills, low productivity employment or low-paid work (Cedefop, 2003a; ILO, 2008). More research is needed to tackle the significant challenges that have been observed in countries such as the United States and it is imperative to investigate these issues further in the context of Europe. For example, learners with disabilities who live in rural areas but study in cities will find their job possibilities limited on returning to their home town, as their education will not match the requirements of that context (Richards, 2004). However, some practices have been identified as being effective. This review will outline the possible options for accessing vocational education and training through mainstream and special training institutions.

The European Commission has conducted a study as part of a two-month public consultation with people with disabilities, in order to inform the EU Disability Strategy 2010–2020. As regards accessibility in education, it is significant that the majority of respondents (90%) felt that learning materials and accessibility of buildings (89%) need to be improved, as well as the transition from special to general education (83%) and adaptations to adult education and training programmes (82%) (European Commission, 2010c). The Danish Educational VET system is an example of a flexible strategy that gives learners the opportunity to try out different occupational experiences and jobs on the labour market. It offers short programmes to students with disabilities that have been



designed so that students can be trained in the sectors in need of workers. Their system is also flexible in terms of offering, in the majority of VET programmes, the possibility to obtain a partial qualification, before working for a period of time and then returning to complete the remainder of the qualification. An apprenticeship pathway entitled 'Mesterlare' is also offered, which provides opportunities to learn full time during placements in companies and supplement academic qualifications with vocational qualifications (Rosenfeld et al., 2008).

4.1 Gender exclusion

Women constitute one of the most excluded and isolated groups of people in every society. Across all cultures and developmental levels, some may be triply disadvantaged; by their disabilities, by their sex, and by poverty. The work carried out by a woman is, stereotypically, considered secondary to that of a man and she is more likely to experience poverty and a lack of essential resources (ILO, 1999b). This exclusion makes their access to education and training even more difficult (ILO, 2008) and is generally caused by negative attitudes within society towards a person with a disability becoming a wife and/or mother or finding employment. If women with disabilities receive vocational education and training they are also generally segregated by 'gender differentiated vocational training' (Powers and Hogansen et al., 2008, 250). Although women more often participate in vocational education and training than men. thev nevertheless experience disproportionately low employment rates and salaries in comparison to men. This is particularly predominant among women aged 16 to 20 (Mwachofi, 2009).

There have been very few international studies focusing on vocational education and training for women. Further studies are therefore necessary in order to raise awareness of the issue and identify influential factors, including an increased focus on facilitating factors in the career development of this section of the population (Noonan, Gallor, et al., 2004). Studies in the United States have confirmed the following as positive predictors of post-school competitive employment for young women with disabilities (Doren et al. 1998; Lindstrom et al., 2004):

- Involvement in two or more work experience placements while in compulsory education (Tomblin and Haring, 1999);
- Active collaboration with school staff;
- The possibility of participating in opportunities within their community in order to help improve skills and self confidence;
- The use of their own and family/friend networks to find a job (Doren et al., 1998);
- Training on finding a career, decision-making and problem-solving had a direct impact on the decision-making and problem-solving strategies of young girls with learning disabilities (Lusk and Cook, 2009).



5. TYPES OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING SETTINGS

5.1 VET in centres for learners with special educational needs

Vocational education in special centres is implemented predominantly by following vocational rehabilitation approaches. The centres emphasise separate designated training facilities for people with disabilities (ILO, 2008). Many European countries are implementing inclusive education, but in some countries, such as Germany and Slovakia, learners with special educational needs and the majority of people with learning disabilities are placed into segregated settings (Pohl and Walther, 2007). There is some suggestion that these institutions are an alternative for learners who do not have the opportunity to find a job in the open labour market or find a place in a supported occupation programme. The aim of these programmes is mainly focused on developing vocational skills (Lifshitz and Klein, 2007). Scholars such as Graham and Jahnukainen (2011) have highlighted that the maximisation of categorisation processes and segregation of students with SEN is the cause of an increase in exclusive approaches being adopted around the world (Adams et al., 2000). The authors exemplified their point through three case studies, in New South Wales, Alberta and Finland.

Pfahl and Power (2011) describe school segregation in Germany as occurring because, when students are classified as having learning difficulties, they are placed directly into segregated schools at an early age. The majority of these students then remain in these schools, which advocate a transition into special vocational training programmes and do not offer the opportunity to find either an apprenticeship or a job. Since early 2009 in Finland, state institutions for people with intellectual disabilities have merged with the non-governmental not-for-profit organisations catering for students with different kinds of learning difficulties. Changes have taken place across various departments, including the social and health department and the education department, which had previously shared responsibility for state special vocational schools. Since the change, state schools have expressed a feeling that their duties have been transferred to the community, their services have became more inclusive and the meaning of care has begun to emphasise de-institutionalisation, normalisation and community care related to learners' rights (Hakala, 2010).

Special VET centres generally include sheltered workshops, use a production-based approach for training, and continue to operate in both developed and developing countries (ILO, 2008). According to the European Commission (2007), there has been no change at European level in the overall percentage of students (2.2%) with special educational needs who were in segregated compulsory education during the period 1999/2001 to 2004/2006. If individual countries' analyses are considered however, it becomes clear that half of the countries have actually reduced their number of special centres by one half. The other countries have doubled the number of centres. Only Austria and the United Kingdom have maintained the same number during that period.

Although initially these special educational organisations appear supportive, some serious limitations surface upon closer examination. Some of these have been identified as: the learners' exclusion from and lack of awareness of the rest of society, a tendency for changes to be slower in these programs compared with the rapidly changing labour market, and a tendency to maintain disability or gender stereotyped activities. In addition, such programmes are less sustainable in terms of funding in a crisis situation - they only address a small fraction of training needs and increase the lack of access to information, services and future jobs for learners with special educational needs (ILO, 1999b). Furthermore, these institutions often place people with disabilities based on stereotypical



views of their disability or on market availability and consequently, very few learners have placements that take their own choice into account. These challenges were illustrated in the project 'Let's keep in contact with Europe', implemented from 1999 to 2001 and funded by the European Commission. This project, implemented by various European researchers from Spain, Hungary, Italy and the United Kingdom, analysed the type of curriculum provided for adults with learning disabilities. The project report concludes that the vocational centres visited all included social and work skills within their curricula, but it also highlighted that factors such as societal attitudes, policies toward inclusion, resources and opportunities all differentiate the curricula and the learners' future working experiences (Fernandez et al., 2002).

A study on Norwegian schools reveals a clear example of such exclusion. The upper secondary education is orientated towards all learners, but the final diploma varies according to three options – vocational competences, study competences and low level competences. This study observes that learners with special educational needs who completed their education in special schools are more likely to obtain the low level competence option than learners in ordinary classes (80% compared with 52%). The research also shows the negative impact of a high amount of assistance within the attainment of formal competences for learners within SEN. It is suggested that this assistance focuses on the learner's disabilities instead of training their strengths (Markussen, 2004).

Conversely, other studies consider segregated settings to be useful for learners with severe disabilities in particular, as these groups need greater support and sometimes targeted or separate training (ILO, 2008). In Greece however, groups of people with disabilities, and especially those with severe and profound intellectual disabilities, are denied access to targeted and separate training. This leaves the group with very little access to services of any kind and is a matter, which should be addressed with urgency (Tsiantis, 2006). Teaching learners with multiple disabilities in vocational training centres is generally oriented to individual teacher and learner tasks, innovatively introduced into programmes that encourage working cooperatively, with positive results for the promotion of co-operation, skills and friendship between persons with disabilities and their trainers (Lancioni et al., 2002).

In fact, some special needs vocational training centres enhance the pedagogical quality of their practices and offer better services than in the mainstream. Effective pedagogical adaptations focus on improving learner skill acquisition in work place training for people with severe disabilities (for example children diagnosed with severe cognitive disabilities and autism) and simulating these skills in training centres (simulation based training technology). These practices have resulted in a higher quality and quantity of skills and more rapid skill acquisition than in mainstream.

However, such practices have also been studied in mainstream educational settings, for example the reiteration of competences to overcome problems of non-generalisation in non-work settings as opposed to developing competences in work settings alone (Lattimore et al., 2006). In special cases where work-based opportunities are limited, the use of experiential instructional methodology is recommended (Guy, 2009) with probable positive results as it allows learners flexible time for repetition and acquisition of individually adapted skills (Lattimore et al., 2006).

It is worth noting here that the information that parents receive varies according to whether their child attends a special or mainstream vocational education setting. Scholars have identified that parents of deaf children in special schools are more informed with regard to



transition and future working possibilities than those in mainstream settings in the United Kingdom (Polat et al., 2004).

An alternative to learning in vocational education centres is demonstrated in the example of a project that was run by Central England People First (CEPF). As a consultancy service, they offered a training programme aimed at teaching learners with various disabilities to be trainers. The project consisted of providing people with disabilities with initial training on various skills and competences related to providing staff training, with a view to this being implemented later. They ultimately intend for this method to be implemented in the mainstream. In the study, CEPF explains how the skills learned were put into practice in ordinary companies, through two day workshops in 8 different organisations including a care village, another People First Group and two social service departments. The services offered by this project helped trainers to feel empowered and were very positively evaluated by the workshop participants (Weeks et al., 2006).

5.2 Compensatory vocational education

Compensatory programmes are usually connected with the goal of remedying the negative repercussions for learners with disabilities who have not been successful in the mainstream environment. In some cases, attempts to resolve problems through compensatory programmes have resulted in learners with special educational needs being segregated in sheltered organisations where they do not always receive validated certification (Pohl and Walther, 2007). However, in certain circumstances, these programmes can be effective in allowing a high number of learners to gain a secondary education certificate and work skills. In Spain for example, where in 2009 38.2% of learners over 16 did not obtain the standard secondary education certificate (European Commission, 2009), compensatory vocational programmes were implemented as an urgent measure (Asin et al., 2008). The government, in response to the new Spanish Organic Education Law (LOE, 2006), introduced an initiative known as 'Initial Vocational Qualification Programmes' (PCPI) for all learners approaching the age of 16 who had entered the educational system late or had been excluded and wanted to gain extra vocational skills and the final certificate. The completion rate was very high due to the methodology used and the learners' desire to find work, together with the positive environment generated. The initiative increased learners' self-awareness and their expectations in terms of gaining basic skills and competences. 70% of the participants continued their studies in vocational training education (Asin et al., 2008). According to these learners the main benefit of the programme was the opportunity to carry out vocational training at an early age, which starkly contrasts with UNESCO's position that 15 years old is too early to specialise (UNESCO, 2004b). The results also indicated the importance of introducing general vocational units into the mainstream environment.

Similar initiatives have also found success in the United Kingdom (England); they provide vocational training for groups of learners aged between 14 and 19 years old with special educational needs or learning difficulties and a history of failing or being excluded from compulsory education. The majority of learners who completed such courses were highly motivated in terms of their future vocational outcomes. It has been suggested that this success could be due to the course flexibility, counselling and guidance and elements of work-related learning in the curricula (Attwood et al., 2005). According to some scholars however, although this practice in special needs schools is clearly beneficial for learners with significant learning difficulties due to the curriculum flexibility and enhanced opportunities to accredit learners' learning and achievements, under-achieving learners in mainstream schools are still being excluded. A more inclusive alternative would be to offer the possibility of the vocational training option to all learners (Waite et al., 2006).



Moreover, one of the initiatives discussed above, entitled 'Entry to Employment (E2E)', focuses on 'generic skills' such as literacy, numeracy and ICT; 'vocational skills'; and 'personal and social skills', which arguably promotes low level employment, thereby reinforcing the social class divide in England (Simmons, 2009). In order to avoid this, it is recommended that flexible and inclusive learning paths for all are introduced. For example, Tomblin and Haring (2000) adopted a single-subject design study that grouped social skills together with training on attendance in order to help adolescents with disabilities ensure success at work.

A key variable in learner involvement in education is greater teacher intervention in strategies to enhance self-determination, whereby learners in compulsory education, both with and without disabilities, take control of their lives (Wehmeyer, 2008). This variable is directly linked to dropout status, lower educational aspirations, lower achievement levels, negative attitudes toward school and seeing school as irrelevant (Eisenman, 2007). In Spain, the administration, the development of national regulations and the implementation of educational policies are all the responsibility of the regional autonomies within their Departments of Education. The autonomies develop the curricula based on minimum requirements set by the State (Ministerio de Educacion Gobierno de España, 2011). Across the different autonomous communities, various programmes have been developed with a view to providing compensatory education (Asin et al., 2008). In Zaragoza the quantity and quality of programmes offered has been increasing since 2004. The classes on compensatory education have been reduced to 6 learners per teacher and the main focus is on adequate didactic and methodological approaches.

In relation to the education systems in the United Kingdom (England, Wales and Northern Ireland), Warnock (2010) has highlighted the ideas of Tomlinson (2005) regarding the reform of the education of learners aged between 14 and 19, which would aim to eliminate one of the national examinations (A levels) in order to ensure that all students receive a certificate when they finish school. Both practical and academic achievements would be included in this certificate. This reform would mean practical and vocational courses start earlier, at the age of 14, in order to give learners the opportunity to choose their path and be responsible for their own progression (Warnock, 2010).

5.3 Towards the inclusion of learners with special educational needs in mainstream education

There are different models of mainstream education systems in Europe. In some countries vocational and secondary education are two distinct paths, whereas elsewhere the systems integrate both academic and vocational learning into one path. This heterogeneity enriches the field of research and shows the different ways in which various systems go about including special needs children and addressing the implications for their future.

There is support for the idea that separating learners by ability early in their schooling has a negative effect overall on the achievement levels of disadvantaged children. This is partly because it tends to channel them towards less prestigious (in terms of quality and future working possibilities) forms of education and training. By postponing this 'tracking' until upper secondary level and allowing for the possibility of transfer between different types of school, segregation can be reduced and equity promoted without reducing efficiency (Commission of the European Communities, 2006).

The key idea of promoting equal opportunities for people with disabilities is assumed to support inclusion (UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities/UNCRPD, 2006). Wherever possible, learners with disabilities should receive education and training with and under the same conditions as non-disabled people (Cedefop, 2003) who



participate in general vocational training institutions and programmes. It is very important to consider that people with disabilities are a diverse group with different support requirements who can benefit from inclusive training once reasonable accommodations are made (ILO, 2008). In keeping with this approach, the Action line from Council of Europe Recommendation 1592 (2003) entitled *Towards full social inclusion of persons with disabilities* stated that 'Equal status' is necessary, pointing out that an inclusive approach should be the goal, with mainstream and specialised structures encouraged to work together to support disabled people in their local communities. These practices should be positive for learners with special educational needs and also contribute to non-disabled people's awareness and understanding of human diversity (Council of Europe, 2006).

The positive results of inclusive practices in vocational education have been evidenced by the job prospects for young people with special educational needs in England and Norway. Firstly, pupils who have experienced schooling in mainstream settings are likely to be more certain in their aspirations for future education, training and employment. Secondly, learners become more proactive in investigating their own ideas for their future inclusion, which has positive implications for the school in reducing the cost of careers advisory services. Thirdly, learners are more socially integrated and will be more likely to aspire to independent living (Casey et al., 2006). Studies have also shown that inclusive practices promote in learners an interest in continuing into higher education as a natural progression, instead of directly entering the labour market (Grigal and Neubert, 2004). In Norway, effective teaching practices included close relationships with and support for learners completing vocational education. These learners succeeded in obtaining the upper secondary leaving certificate and vocational qualifications. A longitudinal study has also confirmed the positive effect of inclusion in vocational education (Cedefop, 2003b). In Finland, during the period 2006-08, a project was implemented with the aim of promoting changes in vocational education, among which was increased support from communities and the individualisation and functionality of the curricula. It confirmed that it is essential that learners are supported in the form of tutoring, supervision and guidance (Hirvonen, 2010).

5.4 Towards the inclusion of mainstream students in special vocational units

Reverse inclusion or reverse mainstreaming is a strategy that involves introducing a small group of children without disabilities into a special needs class or unit (so that the nondisabled form 20% of the total) and includes the provision of special services (Odom and McEvoy, 1990; Guralnick, 2001). This term was introduced by scholars who used early education settings as an environment to explore the effect of learning on different groups of children with different needs. Rafferty, Boettcher and Griffin (2001) have investigated the benefits of reverse inclusion, highlighting that a high percentage (94%) of parents of children with and without disabilities would place their children in such settings. In terms of vocational settings, Mei (1994) introduced a pioneer study in which high school students worked as teaching assistants in facilities catering to students with SEN. The students with disabilities studied high school subjects and both groups enjoyed participating in various activities within the interdisciplinary units that promoted their interpersonal skills and gave them access to the curricula of all students. In 2006 this study was replicated by an teacher who included general education students in his classroom, resulting in high social interaction opportunities for students with SEN (Schoger, 2006). This reverse inclusion strategy was implemented further following its positive impact, however, there is very little research demonstrating that the strategy has been widely explored in vocational and training settings.



5.5 Flexible vocational and general education options for all in secondary education

Policy in several European countries links general secondary education and vocational training in mainstream schools by means of a consistent curriculum resulting in a decrease in discriminatory provision (Lewis, 1998; Stern et al., 1996; Lauterbach et al., 2000; Kupfer, 2009). UNESCO proposes that 'Technical and vocational education should begin with a broad base which facilitates horizontal and vertical articulation within the education system and between school and the world of work, thus contributing to the elimination of all forms of discrimination' (UNESCO 2004b, p. 11). Examples of this approach can be found in the Norwegian, Dutch and German vocational systems. Since the 1994 reforms, the Norwegian vocational education and training system has been a fully integrated aspect of secondary education (Bergli et al., 1998). In the Netherlands, the secondary education system is free to organise the curriculum based on dual courses. Study and work experience are combined using a flexible approach with a variety of different assessments. with enough time for the completion of education, flexible teaching time, special needs support structures, continual learning lines and lump sum funding of employment-oriented training. Following a similar model, Germany offers three options in secondary education (and one mixture in the Hauptschule, leading to 'part-time enrolment in upper-secondary vocational schools combined with apprenticeships until the age of 18' (Kupfer, 2009)). Vocational education in some areas of Germany is characterised by a high success rate, which makes it a good example for other countries to draw on, although special contextual characteristics do make this model difficult to implement elsewhere. As yet it has only been successfully adopted in Singapore and the Czech Republic. The common denominator of the VET curricula in these three countries is the fact that the different secondary options have full equivalence for all graduates (UNESCO, 2005). 'Learning skills' should be indispensable and must be incorporated into general curricula for all students with an extracurricular element addressing additional skills. It is very important that, in order to help learners in VET, learning paths are sufficiently flexible and clearly define the competences involved in all of the units that they study. With help, learners should be able to reflect upon their choices and the experiences that motivated their independence (Boote, 2005).

5.6 Training in mainstream settings

The integration of vocational education and training is important for giving learners with special educational needs the opportunity to access mainstream provision during their education and in their future working life. Curricula should therefore include workplace behaviours, occupational skills and careers awareness, as well as provide work exploration opportunities to help learners with special educational needs identify career interests and be proactive in developing the skills critical to a successful transition (Wagner and Davis 2006; Eisenman, 2007). Research exploring the experiences of learners with special educational needs in mainstream secondary vocational education stresses the importance of offering a combined classroom-based and work-based approach, complemented with learner-teacher feedback and guided instruction when needed (Guy, 2009). The majority of these studies give an indication as to the likelihood of finding employment, but the studies are limited. Further in-depth analysis is necessary into the type of employment commonly entered into and how long it is maintained.

The primary aim of training should be higher employment productivity and higher wages, in good-quality formal jobs. Although mainstream training policies have been adopted in many countries, there is to date no compelling evidence with regard to their effectiveness in achieving this aim. Scholars generally agree that on-the-job training promoted by vocational centres is more effective than institution-based training. In line with this view,



European countries, such as the United Kingdom, prioritise learners with special educational needs and their access to training within the mainstream school system (Freedman, 2008) and an overwhelming majority of trainers and educators feel this approach is the clearest way of showing people with disabilities that they are valued and equal members of society (ILO, 1999). However, several special vocational centres that have introduced relevant training, effectively delivered in institutions with accredited certification and follow-up support services in mainstream organisations, have had considerable success in placing graduates in jobs after the institutional training (ILO, 2008).

Some companies in United Kingdom (England) have adopted the American 'place, train and maintain' model, consisting of training at the regular work place (predominantly small businesses) and supported employment through training and re-training. Following a commonly used training method, a six-weekly Individual Learning Plan (ILP) is used, which covers progress on soft skills: reliability, punctuality, attitude, taking instructions, personal presentation, as well as task-performance and hard skills (Ruggeri-Stevens and Goodwin, 2007). Learners accessing these follow-up services in their post-vocational training were more likely to be employed and receive higher wages or participate in a training programme than groups without this support (Izzo et al., 2000).

Koblik et al. (2009) have conducted a study on a group of learners, all identified as having psychiatric problems, who were included in various computing programmes as part of their vocational training. Those included in mainstream programmes found the training more beneficial than those in a restructured individualised programme, because they felt that it improved their motivation, self esteem and self efficacy.



6. KEY FACTORS THAT FACILITATE VOCATIONAL EDUCATIONAL AND TRAINING FOR LEARNERS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS EDUCATION: RELATIONSHIP WITH LABOUR MARKET

6.1 Co-operation of actors involved in school and training settings

All actors should co-operate to build the capacity of schools and colleges and provide specific solutions in VET for a range of learners with special educational needs (Cedefop and Education and Culture Lifelong Learning Programme, 2009) and consequently for all learners. In both secondary and vocational education settings, the relationship between special educators, general educators (pre-service teachers, teachers, vocational counsellors, vocational teachers and other support personnel), parents, learners and community service and agency representatives should be encouraged, as well as mutual collaboration which helps them to gain an understanding of each other's roles within the model programme (Tomblin and Haring, 1999). As acknowledged by Stowitschek, Lovitt and Rodriguez (2001), extensive collaboration will encompass elements of consultation, shared decision-making and cooperative participation between all the stakeholders involved in facilitating vocational education for learners with special educational needs.

Learners with special educational needs usually have to go through a difficult process in order to gain a good, well-paid job. Family involvement is therefore essential in supporting learners with special educational needs during this process and helping them to plan their future. As the family is generally the most familiar with the learner's potential and skills, their interaction with the learner, training institutions and job providers is considered to be a key supporting factor (Tamol, 2007). The family can provide moral support and practical assistance and act as a role model in terms of a good work ethic. They can also protect the learner from challenging circumstances and exploitation and provide family cohesion, all of which have been identified as helpful to a group of young people with mild intellectual disabilities who were successful in gaining competitive employment (Dixon and Reddacliff, 2001). Lindstrom et al. (2007) have identified a list of variables relating to the family as an influential factor in the success of young people with disabilities finding employment. Among them is the family vision of the young person's future (career expectations) and the social class of the family. As regards the latter, it should be pointed out that this correlation is affected where an advocate group is connected to the learner's case. Scholars have identified a lack of opportunities for families to guide learners on career opportunities available to them based on their skills. Building relationships between parents and guidance teams or transition professionals is therefore highly recommended.

Moreover, it has been confirmed that emotional support from parents and good communication between parents and children with special educational needs can support learner self-determination instruction and decision-making strategies that empower learners to choose their own future (Trainor, 2005). It is noteworthy that parents' educational backgrounds significantly affect the job aspirations of learners with special educational needs in mainstream settings but not those of learners in special schools (Casey et al., 2006).

Furthermore, knowledge of vocational education and training systems and processes, understanding future possibilities and sharing realistic expectations within the family could all be significant in maximising a learner's future independence (Tamol, 2007). This collaboration between professionals and families must therefore start as soon as learners begin their education (Vila et al., 2007). It is valuable for primary stakeholders such as educators and parents to communicate and acknowledge their roles in improving the quality of vocational skills for learners with learning disabilities. Parents' values, in terms of



their children's vocational choices, have a huge influence on the courses and programmes in which their children participate (Lovitt and Cushing, 1999). Thus effective information and orientation from professionals together with this collaboration will decisively affect children's futures and their preparation for adulthood (Grigal and Neubert, 2004). School professionals need to make educational centres a place for giving learners the opportunity to explore these options (Trainor, 2005). Furthermore, teachers, who are sensitive towards the challenges faced by the learners, should include effective accommodations to individual programmes in order to help learners develop self awareness, self efficacy and appropriate expectations as to the outcomes of their choices (Hutchinson et al., 2008). Studies in the United States concerning the implementation of collaboration with parents in secondary settings report high teacher satisfaction as a result of being able to obtain valuable information on learners' needs. The inclusion of these procedures in the future provision of school services was recommended by Hutchinston et al. (2008). They further highlighted the implementation of this provision in coordination with the teaching of school programmes and the inclusion of adapted skills in the individual learner's curriculum (Tomblin and Haring, 1999).

School staff should arrange meetings with parents as part of a collaborative programme as taking part in their children's individual plan meetings will strengthen parents' ability to identify and set future goals. They should also receive information on their children's rights and privileges and have knowledge of major trends in pedagogy or education, post-school possibilities and external agencies. This collaboration should extend to the relationships between different professionals, such as special needs teachers and regular teachers; the effectiveness of this collaboration in working towards inclusion in mainstream vocational centres in Belgium has been clearly documented (Cedefop, 2003b). Successful practices in United Kingdom (Northern Ireland) also confirm that co-ordination between parents, vocational training services and local employers helps in the provision of employment training and support for vulnerable young adults with a wide range of disabilities. The research concludes that the identification of appropriate training placements and employment opportunities should be matched with the candidate's basic needs, abilities and aspirations and that during work placements, the necessary support should be provided to help learners adapt to the work culture. It also emphasises the importance of building successful relationships between stakeholders (Taylor, 2007). MacNaughton and Arnold (2000) have identified several strategies that facilitate obtaining and maintaining who used AAC employment among learners (Augmentative and Communication). These strategies are: developing knowledge and skills that are valued in the workplace, identifying jobs that are a good match for the skills and interests of individuals who use AAC and ensuring that necessary support is available to maintain employment success.

A Swedish study has shown the impact of training for professionals who work with families of learners with special educational needs in the area of vocational orientation. Karlsson et al (2008) identified that in-service training (professional training together with resources) is an effective way of changing practice on both the individual and organisational levels. Families observed that changes had been implemented and the authors therefore advise on the importance of conducting several evaluations with stakeholders following the professional training.

6.2 Co-ordination of sectors and services

The co-ordination of vocational educational services for learners with special educational needs at macro level requires the state, market (employers offering training and jobs) and civil society (NGOs providing services and training, trade unions and youth organisations)



to work together at local and regional levels (Pohl and Walther, 2007). The continued generation of European level policies that link education providers and the private sector is also indispensable (UNESCO, 2002), as are policies highlighting the importance of promoting social, occupational and geographic mobility for the young and the disadvantaged (Council of the European Union, 2008). In New Zealand, vocational training and supported employment providers are working more closely following initiatives at national level. Umbrella groups across the country have developed a system to ensure ongoing commitment and collaboration, to create more individualised support oriented to individual needs and to offer a broad range of opportunities for obtaining the socially valued role of 'employee' (Grant, 2008).

On the local level, it is highly important that relevant training and community involvement efficiently facilitate the process of collaboration in terms of cost sharing, and effectively focus on adaption to the local context and needs (Aspel et al., 1999). The process should be organised, in a non-discriminatory way, on national, regional and local levels in order to respond positively to the global social economics, educational requirements and the needs of different groups of the population (UNESCO, 2004b). Rather than being limited to the institutional level, partnerships need to start from and centre on the individual's background and then develop links to the local transition system according to the individual's needs (Pohl and Walther, 2007).

Individual support should be orientated towards offering training in new economic growth areas and should take into account the needs and aspirations of learners (UNESCO, 2002) and include well coordinated and integrated services within the mainstream and pathways into further education and training (Commission of the European Communities, 2008). An effective programme from the University of Washington exemplifies this model. By means of the programme, which was developed jointly by the University and the Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities, high schools were able to increase the career success of individuals with disabilities by providing them with access to adaptive technology, career preparation activities, internet based mentorship, peer support through online communities and work experience before their graduation. It helped learners with disabilities prepare for success in high-tech careers in science, engineering and technology (Burgstahler et al., 2000).

It is imperative that the community level team (from public and private administrative bodies to adult services bodies), school level team (connecting learners with representatives from community bodies) and the team directly connected to the learners (learners, parents, school representatives, counsellors and teachers) all coordinate their efforts. There must be opportunities for the goals developed by these different teams, which should directly relate to the learners' future career interests and needs, to be integrated into school programmes. Subsequent long term and collaborative team efforts, with high levels of motivation, are also necessary aspects of this model (Aspel et al., 1999).

In Europe, vocational training has largely been the responsibility of schools, however American studies suggest a change in the roles of school staff is essential in order to accommodate collaboration with community post-school bodies and post-secondary services, with a view to addressing learner needs. This inter-body collaboration is increasingly necessary for job seeking and placements, as well as follow-ups and support services. It is also extremely important to consider the inequity of services for people living in rural areas (Mellard and Lancaster, 2000). Scholars have highlighted that a good, high quality VET programme, based on the partnership between professionals in schools and the community, has increased opportunities for learners with severe disabilities to obtain paid employment. Participation in workshops and follow-up consultations between



employers and employees that focus on vocational training in community college and postemployment settings have proved to be efficient, accomplishing a 74.4% success-rate in providing full-time paid employment during the 3 years of the research (Hagner et al., 2001). This study concluded that key relevant aspects to be included in an effective programme are the following: the normalisation of participation in workshops within a mainstream tertiary education state institution, a variety of in-school resources and careercentred materials by means of which learners take an active role in job-seeking, a curriculum that attracts the participation of students from the community, tutoring (model students buddy system and supplementary instructors), self-paced instructional software material, career planning and job search strategies, follow up consultations (employee and employer support system) and a pedagogy adapted to learner learning needs, style and skill levels (Hagner et al., 2001).

6.3 Learner involvement and individual needs in vocational education and training

Several studies have identified that personal maturity and person-environment interactions are the main factors influencing the involvement of a learner with special educational needs in the process of vocational education and training. As a consequence, these factors also influence the likelihood of satisfactory entry into the labour market, a high salary and job retention. In addition, research shows that although learners both with and without disabilities usually have optimistic career outlooks and moderate motivation to take part in their own career decision making, special education learners usually have significantly lower scores than those of their general education peers on career maturity (decision making, self efficacy, career outcome expectations, career exploration intentions and vocational identity). Two principal methods for diagnosing the causes of this have been suggested, namely adapted tests and extra instructional efforts (Ochs and Roessler, 2001).

Scholars make reference to several tools and instructional approaches for learners with and without disabilities in vocational education and training settings. For example, learner advocacy effectively enhances vocational possibilities, together with career maturity programmes adapted to learners' own preferences. These results are significant because most learners who are studying in mainstream secondary education lack the vocational direction to empower them, resulting in them only obtaining low-paid jobs on entering the labour market. It is of the utmost importance that learners, after having identified possible options, enjoy early opportunities to explore different career paths with higher wages that will help them establish higher expectations as a result of the interest created through their experiences (Estrada-Hernandez et al., 2008).

Self determination skills and active learner participation in the selection of their own vocational pathways also provides a basis for productive interventions and effective instruction in assisting learners with learning disabilities to successfully function in adult environments, including post-secondary education and other post-school outcomes (Field et al., 2003; Martin et al., 2007). Although there is strong evidence that individuals with learning difficulties can learn to make choices and solve problems (in single-subject design or single-case research design literature), current literature demonstrates that few self-determination skills can be taught to this sub-set within the group of individuals with disabilities, and there is no evidence on how to teach complex self-determination skills (Algozzine et al., 2001).

Moreover, it is advocated that learners with special educational needs should be helped to develop self-awareness skills and to recognise potential roles for themselves in the community during their last three years of schooling. Learners should document their future vocational plans and how to develop them through personal vocational portfolios



providing evidence of their achievement (Lundine et al., 2006). In a Dutch Secondary Vocational training centre for hairdressing, these Developmental Portfolios have proved to be very effective for monitoring learners' learning through summative evaluations, when contrasted with teacher-only feedback methods. This research shows that the use of portfolios could significantly help a heterogeneous group of learners with diverse abilities in an inclusive way, as each plan is adapted to their own individual needs. This technique has positive implications for helping learners to better formulate their learning needs, as it was shown to increase their personal responsibility for selecting suitable tasks, adapting learning tasks to their own needs and completing practical assignments as well as enabling them to acquire more certificates than learners in the feedback-only group. It is relevant to point out that, during this process, coaching from a mentor is essential in guiding learners' performance (Kicken et al., 2009). In secondary vocational training centres in the Netherlands, self-regulation of learning strategies is becoming an essential practice in pedagogy. Teachers support behaviour towards self-regulation using various instruction formats such as independent group work, project-oriented learning and projectbased learning, which are more effective than traditional approaches in motivating learners to learn. These approaches focus on the necessity of pedagogical flexibility and a learnercentred approach, providing the opportunity for learners to recognise their autonomy and thereby acknowledge the value of their tasks (Van Grinsven et al., 2006).

New technological tools have been developed to help people with severe developmental disabilities work independently without the need for constant support. For instance, the VICAID system is a mini computer which allows the learner to access pictorial information in order to identify procedures or instructions that they or their trainers identified as challenging. This effective tool has been developed by European universities with funding from the European Commission through the project 'Technology Integration for the Disabled and Elderly' (T.I.D.E) (Furniss et al., 2001). A programme introduced by Sussex County Council (United Kingdom) entitled 'About Us' has introduced a number of strategies involving the use of pictograms and photographs as memory books to evidence continuous learning and follow up learners' progress to help them through the transition period from school to job placements (Mack and Thomas, 2008).

6.4 Vocational skills and interpersonal knowledge related to future working outcomes

There is a continuous debate as to the kinds of skills that are the most important for learners to acquire in vocational education: either a specific set of skills with a certificate leading to employment in a particular occupation or a broad repertoire of working skills. Scholars generally leave the discussion open, considering the appropriateness of any one approach to be conditioned by economic circumstances and by the groups being targeted (Freedman, 2008). For that reason, it seems essential to plan for each individual learner the relevant skills, development systems and strategies that should play a part in their compulsory education and training, bearing in mind which will be valued by employers and impact positively on their future working environment (Vila et al., 2007; ILO, 2008). Along these lines, Spanish research has explored the statements of various companies declaring that they value social skills – communication and collaboration with others (Elksnin and Elksnin, 2001), participative skills (planning and organisation of tasks in an increasingly autonomous way) and methodological skills (solving problems at the workplace) over technical skills when it comes to integrating learners with disabilities into their workplaces (Vila et al., 2007).



Other research has proposed that a vocational social skills package could be effective for improving punctuality and prompt attendance by young adults with learning disabilities at the work place and could therefore be a factor in maintaining their position (Tomblin et al., 2000). Social skills are indispensable in gaining employment and can be developed through participation in social activities (Potts, 2005) together with enjoyable and appealing activities, through recreational training (Devine, 2003).

Special mention should be made of the need for the adaptation of assessments and teaching methods with a focus on the skills and educational needs of learners with learning disabilities. These aspects are sometimes ignored during curricular adaptation because of the false belief that learners' disabilities will disappear in adulthood; this belief can have a significant negative impact on learners' work and educational outcomes (Cummings, et al. 2000).

In light of the above, a potential approach would be to direct the teaching of vocational education and training towards market needs and specific learners' skills needs and include both aspects within school programmes in an inclusive manner for all learners (Hyland, 2006). In England, vocational policies take into consideration the specific needs of learners with special educational needs and have developed a culture of interpersonal skills mediation through therapeutic intervention objectives concerned with personal and social skills, emotional intelligence and the enhancement of self-esteem, confidence and motivation in learners.

In the opinion of some authors however, these post-compulsory vocational and training programmes could have negative consequences if they focus solely on individual needs and neglect the acquisition of vocational knowledge, or if the techniques are only implemented for learners with special educational needs. Taking only individual factors into account could promote drop out. Effective intervention should therefore include other systemic factors (Eisenman, 2007). Self-determination should aim to give learners the potential and the resources to choose their vocational future. This is dependent upon the availability of appropriate service opportunities, adequate funds and learners having the power to decide how they will be spent. These factors need to be considered with regard to the level of autonomous thinking of the learner and the information available on possible options (Laragy, 2004). Research also shows that certain types of disability need to be taken into consideration in connection with decision-making processes. Results indicate that individuals with cognitive impairments have more decision-making confusion and external conflict than individuals with physical disabilities (Yanchak et al., 2005).

6.5 Flexible policies and measures

Flexible policies and measures supporting free and varied choices for vocational learning and training courses could be the main facilitators enabling learners with special educational needs to attain qualifications, develop potential and talent and obtain a job. Furthermore, the optimisation of flexible conditions for learners' attendance allows them to access all stages of education and transfer from one field to another within vocational education in a system that maintains a general education component through all stages of specialisation (Pohl and Walther, 2007). This model demands a learner-centred, innovative pedagogy that identifies and addresses individual needs through flexible approaches and in-class pedagogy adapted to the pace of learner learning (UNESCO, 2004b; Commission of the European Communities, 2008).

Scholars encourage the implementation of policies such as quotas in order to increase the enrolment of women with disabilities in vocational courses. They further highlight the importance of disseminating relevant information in order to increase participation. A



possible way of increasing the participation of SEN students in VET would be to create flexibility for learners with disabilities in terms of lower entry qualifications and longer course durations (ILO, 1999b). In keeping with these ideas, the Lisbon European Council (2000) (cited in Barcelona European Council, 2002) encouraged the generation of greater transparency of European qualifications to increase co-operation and improve recognition within European Universities. Furthermore, European countries and stakeholders have proposed that improving accessibility and eliminating barriers to equal participation so that learners can fully exercise their capabilities should be the main priorities for active inclusion and access to rights (Commission of European Communities, 2007).

The respective foci of policies and research currently differ, making it necessary to promote common goals. Unfortunately, the majority of European VET comparative research does not cover the stakeholders' perspectives. Similarly, policies from various European countries focus merely on the role and responsibilities of the individual and do not acknowledge the complexities of the process. Both perspectives need to be taken into account, with the role of individuals and personal motivations, opportunities and resources taking centre stage. Policies are, in some cases, not adapted to reality. In Germany, for example, the quota level has recently been reduced from 6 to 5 per cent because there were insufficient numbers of qualified persons with disabilities to fill the available jobs. A further example is where the special vocational setting does not provide the qualifications that are useful for the labour market (ILO, 1999b).

On a positive note, there is an example of flexibility in the vocational education and training curriculum in the form of the inclusion of new technologies that accommodate learners' needs. For example, e-mentoring between the mentor and the learner has been successfully adapted to vocational training (Kemppainen, 2011). Research shows that extra opportunities for enhancing communication skills, such as adapted software, often cultivate positive and supportive relationships without the barriers of time and space. (UNESCO, 2002; Shpigelman et al., 2008).

The ideal extent of flexibility in a vocational system is conceptualised as a 'dual system', which considers both education and training and maximises the connection with local market demands and existing jobs (Freedman, 2008). VET programmes should be comprehensive and inclusive systems that can accommodate all needs, and at the same time facilitate entry into the mainstream. This equity in adapting to all needs should consider different variables, such as location, languages, schedules and structures (UNESCO, 2002). An illustration of this equity can be found in the Danish vocational learning and training systems, which have pioneered concrete learner-centred approaches. Moreover in Sweden, every individual has the right to choose the course of study, its timing and the location (ILO, 2003). In some countries, individualised action plans (IAP) give the learner the opportunity to guide their own vocational path from the moment they start school, but in the majority of countries this does not occur until learners are in the final years of compulsory education (Pohl and Walther, 2007). In Sweden, the meaning of equality has been explored through the innovative approach of giving learners with special educational needs a curricula which is flexible and fully adapted to their needs, alongside the opportunity of being responsible for and autonomous in their own learning progress. Among the challenges encountered in this programme was the need for more personal and varied choices for the group members. The learners were grouped according to their pace of learning, and the in-class gap on progress increased as a result. For learners with special educational needs, working at their own pace was positive, as they had the opportunity to learn and the possibility to maximise the use of resources. While such practices are very effective, government-imposed curricula, accountability and



national examinations make the implementation of this pedagogy at higher educational levels impossible (Ahl, 2007).

High participation in education could also provide an alternative to the high unemployment rate experienced by young people in Eastern Germany, Poland and Slovakia (Pohl and Walther, 2007). Research shows that European countries with coherent, structured and preventive educational policies, such as Denmark, Finland and Slovenia, have a compensatory and individualistic focus with a direct and significant effect on school leaving rates. Their policies are characterised by: an increased number of options and available choices of routes, the design of national qualification frameworks, broad access to educational allowances, personalised counselling for all learners and additional support for those at risk.

A European Council Recommendation has invited Member States to evaluate the factors leading to early school leaving and develop connected evidence-based policies, with regard to particular educational sectors including vocational education and training. The document specifically highlights students with special educational needs as one of the groups at increased risk of early school leaving and recommends that strategies be directed towards prevention, intervention and compensation measures. It also stresses that good practice should be shared and promoted among Member States and stakeholders. These strategies should be implemented by the end of 2012 (Official Journal of the European Union, 2011).

Another important European initiative is the European Qualifications Framework, which aims to define and clarify national skills, qualifications and competences in order to make them more transparent across European countries (European Commission, 2008). The framework requires the inclusion of flexible practices for learners with special educational needs in vocational education and training.

The term 'competences' has been interpreted in different ways and usually includes both subjective and objective meanings. The subjective interpretation of this term is conceptualised as individual intelligence seen as a stable and more or less un-modifiable cognitive resource while an objective view of this term focuses on a more flexible interpretation determined by task resolution and the abilities needed in order to fulfil them (Grollmann, 2007). The acquisition of these competences needs to be considered in situ and through an inquiry-based curriculum as interpretations will often be context dependent and their own experiences need to follow a career dialogue in order for students to highlight their potential (Kuijpers et al., 2011). Innovative policies that focus directly on learning through real work experience are essential, with adapted technology and flexibility included in the conceptualisation of the term. It is further recommended that European policies should indicate how to adapt the concept of competences to all learners. Mulder, Weigel and Collins (2007) have revised the concept of competences in several countries of the European Union and they have highlighted the lack of coherent definition, implementation and evaluation. Accordingly, it is argued that the concept of competences should include the knowledge acquired and whether the individual can perform the job task defined. The one-to-one relationship between competence and performance should also refer to the quality of social interaction in the job setting, consumer satisfaction, economic benefits, the goals and operation of Mulder et al. (2007) suggest that after their training, an individual's competences should match with the organisational level needs for employment practice. Furthermore Gazzoli et al. (2010) concluded that empowerment and job satisfaction has a direct influence upon eventual customer perception of quality.



6.6 Relationship between VET and the labour market for learners in special needs education

There is a direct relationship between education and employment (ILO, 2000). Optimising work experience for learners with special educational needs through strong school programmes, with personalised and intensive career exploration opportunities and customised support before job transitions will maximise the possibility of entering employment, due to learners' increased vocational knowledge and interest (Nietupski, 2007). Schmidt and Smith (2007), following an investigation involving a group of 60 learners with disabilities, have confirmed that learners who participated in adapted vocational programmes (including employment services and learning skills for independent living), have confidence in their work skills and therefore do not feel any limitations in the work place. The scholars therefore concluded that these programmes promote confidence and encourage learners with disabilities to participate as part of the workforce. 69% of all participants in this research participated in an employment programme and, of them; more than 60% were employed at the time of the study (Schmidt and Smith, 2007).

It has been confirmed that exploring skills in two or more contexts, such as customer service taught in a classroom and a work placement at a department store, become 'linked with one another' when both the learning and transfer contexts are intentionally framed to create interaction. The 'frameable' aspects of learning situations, proposed by Engle in 2006, were time, location, participants, topics, roles, practices and purposes, and several such programmes have been identified as highly effective (Taylor et al., 2009).

In Europe, people with severe mental illness have the highest rate of unemployment (approximately 95%). However, for this group, the effective implementation of IPS (individual placement and support plans) instead of vocational rehabilitation, can mean an increase in competitive employment compared to those assigned to vocational services, with greater job retention and longer hours worked. The programmes implemented by Burns and colleagues (2007) from the University of Oxford consisted of identifying young learners with special educational needs who were willing to work in the competitive labour market and helping them to develop pragmatic goals and search for appropriate employment directly, without a training phase. During this programme, the counsellor would contact the job companies and support both the learner and the employer with up to 18 months of bilateral counselling. Each counsellor had a small number (maximum 25 learners) to support. However, perhaps due to the learners' lack of training, the jobs found were unskilled and orientated to support services. Scholars from Sweden have implemented a similar programme with a group of 65 men and women below 35 years of age with mental illnesses. After one year, 25% of the participants in the individual placement and support programme were employed and 14% were involved in educational programmes. The satisfaction of the participants who were working or studying was higher than those who remained at home (Nygren et al., 2011).

Although many European educational systems include learners with visual impairments in mainstream education, these learners have often been unable to find employment upon finishing their education. Spain is the exception to this; the majority of people with visual impairments are trained and carry out paid work for ONCE, the Spanish National Organisation for blind people (Gresnigt, 2000).

Art is an area that can bring personal benefits to learners with disabilities whilst also providing paid jobs and a wide array of career possibilities. The VSA arts/Volkswagen programme is a good example of an initiative that matched some of the needs of young artists and effectively supported their career development. Several other disability arts organisations exist in the USA, but still very few exist in Europe (Boeltzig et al., 2009).



Rylance (1998) noted, in an in-depth review of factors in a longitudinal study database, that basic skills competences and graduation with a final diploma were clear positive factors that indicated later job opportunities for children with an emotional disability (Rylance, 1998).

6.7 Role of trainers or mentors in vocational education and training

Mentoring has been recognised as a valuable tool for professionals to use in order to meet the needs of learners in vocational training and job settings. The role of mentorship is typically defined as an adult acting as a guide, role model, teacher and friend, to a less experienced and often younger protégé or mentee (Casey et al., 2000). The use of biographical reports, self-reports, and interviews indicate that mentors exert one of the most significant influences on gifted individuals' personal and vocational success (Daughtry et al., 2009). Mentoring can be undertaken by other learners who can help to promote personal, academic and career development as well as act as role models to assist learners in defining their career paths (Whelley et al., 2003). In 2004, the Council of the European Union underlined the importance of the role of young people in combating all forms of discrimination (Government of the Member States, 2004). Indeed peer mentors have been shown to not be intrusive or stigmatising within the vocational training setting of a beauty course. This mentoring helped to improve work-related learner performance and served school and community needs (Westerlund, 2006). The benefits of the mentoring relationship for learners included experiencing how others live their lives, which motivated them to set themselves high aspirational goals such as being as independent as possible or pursuing educational or vocational goals (Kroll, 2008; Ljungberg et al., 2011)

The ILO has stated that teachers in special vocational training centres normally meet the requirements for teaching learners with SEN (ILO, 1999b). In mainstream vocational education and training, trainers require certain skills and attitudes towards promoting equality (Cedefop, 2001). Professional training in special needs for teachers could have positive effects on the learning of learners with special educational needs. For example, in Estonia, while most teachers in Estonian Vocational Schools demonstrate positive attitudes towards the greater inclusion of learners with special educational needs, concerns remain regarding the readiness of these schools to accept such pupils into existing courses (Rose et al., 2007). A study examined the experiences of a group of 14 teachers working with a group of learners with multiple disabilities and explored the disparity between the new conceptual approach of inclusion and the teachers' use of medical terminology with this group. Further training on contemporary theories of disability and on systemic acknowledgement of further social approaches is therefore recommended (Jones, 2005).

In the majority of cases, as for careers in technical education, teachers need to be aware of the new technological instruments which can be adapted to meet their learners' needs. Lifelong learning for teachers should therefore be highly promoted (Haber and Sutherland, 2008). It is also recommended that the ability of future teachers to guide learners with special educational needs is developed, together with flexible training to suit the needs of learners (UNESCO, 2004b). Pedagogical strategies used by instructors should include peer assessments, co-teaching and reflective practice (Tchibozo, 2011). For example, it is suggested that a trainer should only accompany the worker to a work placement depending on their individual needs and not with regard to the worker's particular type of disability (Vila et al., 2007). Moreover, coordination of sectors and services can be arranged between schools and other external institutions (Lovitt and Cushing, 1999). This co-operation should focus on gradually reducing learner support until it becomes obsolete or when the natural support provided by increased integration with co-workers has been



established, instead of coaching, which usually fosters a dependency culture (Stevens et al., 1999).

Learner identity is made up of the conclusions they draw about themselves as individuals. as a result of what they have learned through their experiences. Learner training could include the use of portfolios in which learners create auto-biographies covering their past and present learning processes and in which they focus on the effective pedagogy that has a direct influence on their training during learning practices in the work place. As a result, participants are more engaged in their work, are aware about their own learning experiences and can help to redesign their own adapted programs. Educators can also learn about different pedagogical tools and feel more engaged with their students (Wojecki, 2007). An integrated curriculum would include vocational content, general work related skills and knowledge, learning and working with academic principles and real work practice with learner engagement in applied activities which require problem-solving. Teachers would spend more time guiding learners than teaching and would provide teamwork activities. Literature reviews of integrated curricular models have shown that although there is no data demonstrating the effects, there are descriptive analyses that show meaningful engagement of learners with disabilities in classes or programmes based on this integrated curriculum that may have contributed to the learners' persistence. academic achievement and post-secondary engagement (Eisenman, 2000).

6.8 Role of career counsellors and implementation of transition plans

Human resources development and training improve human potential (ILO, 2000). It is important that counselling and guidance more effectively focus on matching learners with training opportunities that reflect current market demands and facilitate steps for a transition into employment (UNESCO, 2002). A career counsellor should help learners to choose the programmes best suited to their needs and, in terms of choices, give them a realistic view of the opportunities available (UNESCO, 2004b). Counsellors should be mindful that learners may experience negative thoughts about making a career decision, which could result in he/she avoiding the process and thereby making it more challenging. This concept is known as 'dysfunctional career thoughts' and should be explored by the counsellor. With this in mind, the counsellor should consider in their evaluation that learners with a higher level of achievement may well need additional individual sessions than those with a lower level. There is also a need for further research that explores which strategies are the most effective for different learners (Lustig and Strauser, 2003). Among the counselling models, it seems that 'INCOME' is designed to be inclusive and easily adapted to all clients and it is effective in guiding towards choosing a future career (Hershenston, 2005).

It is particularly necessary to improve access for women with disabilities, with open minded counselling which looks beyond their disability, considers technological adaptations and is conscious of gender stereotypes (ILO, 1999b). This process needs to start at an early age and learners should have a key role in selecting and deciding on their vocational path (European Commission and US Office for disability and employment, 2009).

According to some scholars, the lack of knowledge on the part of vocational rehabilitation workers and career counsellors on the needs and the nature of some disabilities can be more problematic than the disability itself. Some learners diagnosed with Asperger Syndrome, also known as the hidden disability, are working to educate professionals about the disability (Fast, 2004). Learners with intellectual disabilities are more likely not to display anti-social behaviour when they like job activities that match their preferences. Learners therefore need the chance to be exposed to different options (Stevens at al, 1999). In the case of learners with chronic conditions such as spina bifida, counsellors



should be aware that many relevant variables must be taken into account, as they can impact upon how each individual adapts to life with the disability and familiar and social reactions (Brislin, 2008). It is interesting to note however, that innovative research on transition among a group of young learners with visual impairments indicated that, among the different variables considered effective in the transition to employment (work experience, academic competence, self determination, use of assistive technology and locus control), the participants of this research do not consider the contribution of a counsellor to be effective (Capella et al., 2009). It is essential that learners with disabilities are part of the Individual Transition Plan (ITP) meeting and it is valuable that they learn the skills involved in leading meetings and discussing interests, skills and options. An adaptation of a multimedia package, such as the Self-Directed Individual Education Plan (IEP), has been found, in a small scale survey, to be useful in increasing the participation of learners with moderate learning difficulties in their ITP meetings (Allen et al., 2001). Learners' self esteem and involvement with the counsellor were not associated with employment after the transition stage for learners with visual impairments (Capella et al., 2009).

Even though many education policies have been developed with a view to inclusion, careers service organisations external to the education system are still common (Howieson and Semple, 2006) In most of Europe, consultants are still working externally to the educational system which makes it difficult for them to recognise learners' needs. In Sweden, individual educational plans in compulsory education have been obligatory since 1995 and it can be presumed that schools have a long history in preparing and improving them. Indeed, Swedish Researchers, through an in-depth review of a representative sample, have indicated that most of the information considered relevant in terms of difficulties and possible measures focuses on the pupil's individual characteristics and challenges, rather than on information about external and organisational factors. It is important to take this information into account and avoid the stigmatisation of learners by considering their environment and moving towards an inclusive and mainstreaming ideology (Isaksson et al., 2007). In the United States, integrated academic and occupational learning has been developed over the last 10 years, which is different from individual adaptation and instead involves the whole organisational system.

Considering the multidisciplinary nature of vocational assessment, the integration of people with disabilities should be carried out by multidisciplinary teams including specialists from a wide variety of fields such as rehabilitation medicine, ergonomics, psychology, vocational guidance, education, social sciences, occupational medicine, occupational health and the safety and technical fields, together with expertise on different occupations (Council of Europe, 1995). Studies have identified that interrelationships between psychological and pedagogical techniques could benefit learners with disabilities in vocational education and training, especially through the use of innovative tools improving the generalisation of skills (Cobb et al. 2009; Akcamete, 1999). Although very few studies are present in the literature, one case study does demonstrate that by using a photo activity schedule book implemented by teachers, learners in vocational training increased their independent transitioning between vocational tasks inside a school cafeteria and at a community job site (Carson et al., 2008).

Various models have been developed that focus on improving careers assistance to learners with disabilities. This assistance is essential for the self determination skills of learners and helps them to develop their self identity and feel like full participants in their lives and in their community (Soresi et al., 2008) Scholars have highlighted that young people with disabilities display a broad range of interests and self-estimated job-relevant abilities that are similar to those held by the wider population. This research also reveals



that less that half of the study's participants' jobs relate to their own areas of interest. It is therefore recommended that employers and counsellors have regard to these areas of interest in order to help young people feel fulfilled while they are working (Turner et al., 2011).

Hagner et al. (2001) developed a project that advised young people with severe disabilities on career planning and job search strategies. They concluded that the services that the project provided were the same as those usually offered (companion in job search and ongoing contact with employer), but that they had a more intensive approach. Hershenson (2005) introduced the INCOME model for organising, selecting and implementing concepts from career theories and career intervention practice. This tool help consultants to categorise the trainee challenges in relation to career interventions within the 6 different careers statuses (imagining, informing, choosing, obtaining, maintaining and existing) and guide the person through the strategy for the category or categories in which they fall.



7. KEY CHALLENGES FOR VET AND THE RELATIONSHIP WITH THE LABOUR MARKET

7.1 Drop out from VET and possible solutions

A high number of learners with special educational needs do not complete their programmes and leave vocational education and training. This is arguably due, at least in part, to the possibility that programmes offered do not suit their needs (Cedefop, 2001). This experience is shared worldwide by groups of learners with disabilities (Jahnukainen and Helander, 2007). Learners with emotional disabilities or behaviour disorders are those with the highest rates of dropout, the lowest grades, the most course failures and a higher grade retention/repetition rate than any other group of learners.

Barnado's, an English association working with young people, has published research on the causes of drop-out among a group of 110 young (below 18 years of age) learners from United Kingdom (England) at risk of disengagement, among whom were learners with disabilities. The main causes cited by participants were: poor experiences in school (teachers, other pupils and not being able to keep up with academic work), personal difficulties and life circumstances (no special support working in their individual cases) and structural barriers (the economic context as a result of the crisis means there are fewer opportunities for work and training) (House of Commons Education Committee, 2011).

In response to this situation, researchers have highlighted the need for vocational and professional programmes to link with learners' preferences in their compulsory education curricula. This would be complemented by support in completing their education and attaining a diploma that could increase learners' chances of being socially integrated (Wood and Cronin, 1999; Jahnukainen, 2001). It has also been reported that effective relationship programmes, such as mentoring or small group classes, could engage learners more and effectively avoid them dropping out (Wagner and Davis, 2006).

Other studies have confirmed that learners with learning disabilities and psychiatric illness face many barriers that could contribute to their exclusion from compulsory education and hinder their success both in school and at work (Cook, 2006). Policies around the inclusion of learners with special educational needs can encounter challenges if school arrangements are not accommodating; this results in further learner dropouts and more learners being transferred to individual programmes. In Sweden, legislation implementing a compulsory three-year inclusive programme was introduced in 2000 for all learners. The programme mixed vocational and theoretical subjects, but the policy implementation has still not met expectations - in particular for schools continuing with inflexible teaching methods instead of developing pedagogy which could be adapted to the needs of the learners. Therefore although policies are inclusive, schools have not been enabled to adapt to learners' needs. It has been suggested that schools should listen to learners' voices and adapt the school to their needs, simultaneously motivating and stimulating the learners (Fischbein and Folkander, 2000) As learners' voices are connected with their own experiences and their own history, self-advocacy and career exploration, taking account of a learner's voice should be compulsory for every education professional (Hitchings, Luzzo et al., 2001).

Where learners have already been excluded from the education system, research suggests that such learners could, with a supportive programme, be motivated to complete vocational training. This has been illustrated in Finish vocational schools. In Finland, it is rare for learners to leave compulsory schooling, however many learners with special educational needs drop out at secondary level. Considering that in Finland, the majority of learners are enrolled in further education, being part of the dropout group leads to future



unemployment and social exclusion. Therefore it is important to note the existence of several effective programmes developed to prevent social exclusion of young people with disabilities. These programmes' main objective is to work as a prevention model. The 'Creating Your Own Career programme' assists learners during work-based learning workshops. A second programme, entitled 'The 10th form', provides an opportunity for an extra year of experience using non-traditional learning methods. This programme is not restricted to the school setting. With flexible solutions based on individual guidance. learners completed secondary school and their unemployment rate did not differ from the average for their age group (Jahnukainen, 2001). After the success of these programmes in Finland, the 'Activity School of East Finland' was developed over a period of three years. It is based on an alternative pedagogical model of 'social pedagogy' for all learners studying vocational education and focuses on individualised guidance and improving the quality of the relationship between learner and teacher. This course includes up to 80% on-the-job learning (from mainstream vocational education). There are higher satisfaction levels here than among the control group (learners in regular vocational training addressed to learners with special educational needs who have not taken part in the vocational education experiences in this programme). The application of the programme to learners' life situations has also been confirmed (Jahnukainen and Helander, 2007).

The American 'expanding horizon program' is an example of an effective, two year programme of vocational classes combined with a focus on job-seeking skills and training for maintaining jobs where needed. During this programme, learners were encouraged to complete their vocational training within adapted programmes which provided academic and career assessment, skill training and employment opportunities (Lemaire, Mallik and Stoll, 2002).

In conclusion, further research is needed in order to promote preventive responses. It is also very important to measure the dropout predictions among learners and give consideration to this serious problem, which necessitates preventive measures and a coordinated solution on a political level (Kemp, 2006). Programmes that focus on secondary and tertiary prevention can be effective, but individualised dropout prevention programmes for all will always be a better alternative.

7.2 Limited implementation of measures and co-ordination of services

Education and training systems in developed countries tend to be fragmented and inflexible because they have generally been built up over many decades (ILO, 2000). In England for example, men and women with learning disabilities may seek 'supported employment' where they can expect to receive specialist training and practical support for their special needs along with transport to and from work. These employment opportunities are provided directly by local authorities or commissioned by local authorities from private or third sector organisations. In addition, there is a small number of social firms that operate specifically to employ people with learning disabilities. There are no reliable national figures regarding the number of organisations offering supported employment or the numbers of people with learning disabilities employed in them and the government does not participate in this process (Redley, 2009).

Inequalities exist because the world of work is not open to everyone. Wider socio-economic factors, such as work placement availability and the employer support offered to schools are significant excluding mechanisms, together with the negative attitudes of professionals looking at the appropriateness of placements (Mitchell, 1999). To act effectively it is necessary to have information and co-ordinated data regarding the employment outcomes of young adults with SEN, along with essential information on their learning and post-secondary outcomes (Izzo et al., 2000). In 2006, the World Bank



instigated an e-discussion to hear the views of stakeholders on the question of young people with disabilities and employment. The roles of intermediaries and mediators operating between the work place and disabled people are essential in order to link their needs. In many cases learners are decisively involved in finding solutions to the challenges they are experiencing and it would perhaps be better for them to play a leading role in the design of plans (Roggero et al., 2006).

It has been suggested that research centres providing direct access to national, regional and local information are urgently required in order to facilitate the dissemination of knowledge across European countries. Future policies should consider the evaluation and follow up of national practices and for this purpose, the information collected by research centres will be essential (Baye and Demeuse, 2008).

7.3 Limited career assessment tools

For people with disabilities, vocational assessment is one of the major obstacles to employment. So long as it continues to concentrate on deficiencies and weaknesses it will inevitably lead to exclusion. Resolution AP (1995) 3 of the Charter on the vocational assessment of people with disabilities (Committee of Ministers, 1995) appeals for a transfer of focus from disability to ability. On this basis, the learner's vocational abilities and not disabilities, should be assessed and linked to specific job requirements. Comparison and alignment of vocational aptitudes and specific job requirements should facilitate employment (Council of Europe, 2009). This assessment needs to be based on empirical evidence, be standardised (Dipeolu, 2007) and individually accommodate by not being based on beliefs, tradition and assumptions (Jones, 2006). Negative attitudes focus on the limitations of learner deficits, as clearly shown in an Italian study; the teachers of children with Down syndrome in the north eastern region of Italy predicted that only a few children would eventually work in a inclusive setting (Nora and Soresi, 2009). The main problem with most assessments is that they are not individually adapted to the learners' personal needs. In the majority of cases, assessments are carried out in the group setting, resulting in ineffective provision and a limited future for learners with disabilities due to these erroneous evaluations.

Although vocational assessment should be an important element both prior to and during the vocational training course, most of the research is based on the transition process and focuses purely on future employment while ignoring the training process (Sitlington and Clark, 2001). There is a need to differentiate the vocational assessment from the transition assessment. There is also a need for more correlation with global needs during the transition stage and a career assessment that looks for broader choices in the whole lifespan of learners. It has been emphasised that the applicability of curriculum-based vocational assessment in vocational education should be uniquely tailored to each individual's particular circumstances. This could guide instructional requirements with natural class activities considering essential and ongoing student-centred processes together with the assessment for all learners (Rojewski, 2002). More research is needed in order to adapt tools for learners with non-verbal communication and poor social understanding (e.g. children with autistic spectrum disorder) as very few assessments are standardised for English speaking countries (Jones, 2006).



7.4 Relationship of VET to job practices and accessibility to the job market

The importance of equity and efficiency, and how to make them work together, needs increased attention in the European public sphere - especially while rates of basic patterns of return are lower for disadvantaged people than those of people with advanced educational backgrounds. Skill needs are demand driven and dependent on local socioeconomic contexts, which are continuously changing; vocational training is often not related to real employment practices. Training is frequently provided in a segregated way and not oriented towards complex professions, but to broad and general specialisations (Cedefop, 2003). It is therefore very difficult to cope with these demands and more support services are necessary, alongside improved skill training (UNESCO, 2002). In light of the on-going crisis in Europe, it is clear that services that only seek unskilled jobs are not effective. Scholars have analysed the United Kingdom government's Entry to Employment (E2E) programme discussed above and concluded that counselling alone does not help. Instead, they recommended programmes that up-skill learners (Russell, Simmons and Thompson, 2011). In line with this, scholars have found that the skills taught need to be coordinated with the skills needed in the workplace. Little (2011) has discovered that the majority of learners with foundation degrees do not know how to apply their skills in an actual job. It is therefore suggested that transferability should be explicitly covered in their training.

When learners with special educational needs complete their training, they often return to passive assistance programs or receive disability benefits or pensions (ILO, 2008; OECD, 2009). Changes in policies, in order to motivate improved training and tailor qualifications to the needs of the market, could therefore be effective, particularly for jobs that are not too closely linked with new technological changes, which rapidly make skills obsolete. Efficiency could be achieved by adapting to the requirements of the private sector and the certification of the public education system. On the other hand, greater equity could also be accomplished if learners obtain general knowledge of and access to jobs, and then gain vocational specialisation through the labour market (Woessmann, 2008).

A Finnish study has explored the situation of ten learners with learning disabilities 10 years on from completing their compulsory education. Although the group had not lost their high motivation to find a job, their external opportunities had not been too favourable. Half of the group participated in vocational education and business school, and although they remember it as a great experience, none of them actually completed it. Nevertheless, during this period, the group did gain useful competences that motivated them to seek jobs. This study reveals the main challenges in the process which lead, ten years on, to 50% of the learners being unemployed and one being in prison, despite the fact that they were all willing to work and were actively seeking paid employment. Even taking into account the fact that the unemployment rate for the national working population in that year was particularly high (20%), this group experienced very high rates of unemployment. This key example acknowledges that, despite Finland having one the highest rates of people finishing higher education of all European countries, people with special educational needs are still in need of support in terms of their labour possibilities and individualised follow-ups are required to monitor learners' vocational futures (Kivirauma, 1997). Academics consider it significant that in systems where learners enter the labour market early (e.g. aged 16) and have early exposure to a high minimum wage, they will actually experience low earnings in the long-term. This can have negative long term effects on learners such as reduced labour market experience and accumulation of tenure, a decrease in training and skills formation, as well as creating a reduced labour supply on the market generally (Neumark and Nizalova, 2007). Discrimination on the part of



employers results in people with disabilities receiving lower wages during and after placements and being at high risk of lifelong work dependence (Gill, 2005).

In conclusion, vocational education has often not been effective in encouraging employability skills due to poor links with industry and delays and shortcomings in adapting programmes to the rapidly changing needs of enterprises (ILO, 2000). As stated at the outset of this review, the relevance of training in special vocational schools is poorest and the quality of training lowest where traditional curricula are used, which in the majority of cases are poorly matched with labour needs (Freedman, 2008; ILO, 2008).

REFERENCES

- Adams, J., Swain, J. and Clack, J., 2000. 'What's so special? Teachers' Models and Their Realisation in Practice in Segregated Schools' *Disability and Society* 15(2), 233–245
- Ahl, A., 2007. 'Equality and the freedom to choose the "what and when" of schooling: Students with special educational needs in timetable-free settings' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 22(2), 183–97
- Akcamete, G., 1999. 'Improving question skills for students with hearing impairment' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 14(2), 171–7
- Algozzine, B., Browder, D., Karvonen, M., Test, D. W. and Wood, W. M., 2001. 'Effects of interventions to promote self-determination for individuals with disabilities' *Review of Educational Research* 71(2), 219
- Allen, S. K., Smith, A. C., Test. D. W, Flowers. C and Wood. W. M, 2001. 'The Effects of Self-Directed IEP on Student Participation in IEP Meetings' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 24, 107
- Anagnostopoulos, D. C. and Soumaki, E., 2011. 'Perspectives of intellectual disability in Greece: epistemology, policy, services for children and adults' *Current opinion in Psychiatry* 24(5), 425–430
- Annesley, C., 2007. 'Lisbon and social Europe: towards a European 'adult worker model' welfare system' *Journal of European social policy* 17(3), 195–205
- Anuncibay, R., 2007. 'Social, personal and educational constraints on access to employment among groups at risk of social exclusion: contributions from an employment observatory' *Journal of Vocational Education & Training* 59(4), 435–449
- Ashley Stein, M., 2007. 'Disability Human Rights' California: GLADNET Collection
- Asin, A. S. and Peinado, J. L. B., 2008. 'Second chance programmes: A response to educational needs in compulsory education' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 23(3), 179–88
- Aspel, N., Bettis, G., Quinn, P., Test, D. W. and Wood, W. M., 1999. 'A collaborative process for planning transition services for all students with disabilities' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 22(1), 21
- Attwood, G., Croll, P. and Hamilton, J., 2005. 'Recovering potential: Factors associated with success in engaging challenging students with alternative pre-16 provision' *Educational Research (Windsor)* 47(2), 149–62
- Baye, A. and Demeuse, M., 2008. 'The European Commission Stepping Up Both the Efficiency and Equity of Education and Training Systems Policy' *Futures in Education* 6(6), 772–780
- Bergli, T., Froyland, E. and Larsen, L., 1998. 'Qualifications for employment and higher education: a collaborative investigation across Europe' *Ammattikasvatussarja* 18, 21–23
- Blamires, M., 1999. *Universal Design for Learning: Re-establishing Differentiation as Part of the Inclusion Agenda? Support for Learning*, Blackwell Publishing Limited 14, 158–163
- Brown, P., Green, A. and Lauder, H., 2001. *High skills: globalisation, competitiveness and skill formation*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press
- Brislin, D. C., 2007. 'Counselling Implications for Youth With Spine Bifida' *Journal of Counselling & Development* V. 86



Boeltzig, H., Sulewski, J. S. and Hasnain, R., 2009. 'Career development among young disabled artists' *Disability & Society* 24(6), 753–69

Boote, J., 2005. Young vet learners with disabilities: acquiring 'learning skills' for life and work. Avetra conference Brisbane

Buiskool, B. J., Van lakerveld, J. and Broek, S., 2009. 'Educators at Work in two Sectors of Adult and Vocational Education: an overview of two European Research projects' *European Journal of Education* 44(2), 145–162

Burgstahler, S., Wild, N. and Smallman, J., 2000. From High School to College to Work; student with disabilities in High Tech Fields. Annual Conference on Technology and Persons with disabilities. Northridge, CA March 20–25, 2000

Burgstahler, S., 2005. *Universal Design of Instruction: Definition, Principles and Examples.* Washington: Do it

Burns, T., Catty, J., Becker T., Drake, R. E., Fioritti, A., Knapp, M., Lauber, C., Rössler, W., Tomov, T., Busschbach, J. V., White, S., Wiersma, D. for the EQOLISE Group* (2007) 'The effectiveness of supported employment for people with severe mental illness: a randomised controlled trial' *Lancet* 370, 1146–52

Capella, C., More, A. F. B., Now, D., Out, L., My, J., McDonnall, M. C., Crudden, A., Stephens, B. C., Kirchner, C. and Orr, A. L., 2009. 'Factors affecting the successful employment of transition-age youths with visual impairments' *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness* 103

Carone, G., Pichelmann, K. and Koopman, J., 2009. 'Labour Market Prospects and Policies to Soften the Impact of the Financial Crisis' (May 8, 2009). *European Economy-ECONOMIC* BRIEF (European Commission – DG ECFIN), No. 1. Electronic source available online at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1416163 Last accessed December 2010

Carson, Keyla D., Gast, David L. and Ayres, Kevin, M., 2008. 'Effects of a photo activity schedule book on independent task changes by students with intellectual disabilities in community and school job sites' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 23(3), 269–279

Casey, K. M. A. and Shore, B. M., 2000. 'Mentors' contributions to gifted adolescents' affective, social and vocational development' *Roeper Review* 22(4), 227–30

Casey, L., Davies, P., Kalambouka, A., Nelson, N. and Boyle, B., 2006. 'The Influence of Schooling on the Aspirations of Young People with Special Educational Needs' *British Educational Research Journal* 32(2), 273–289

Cedefop, 2001. 'Agora XII: Training for mentally disabled people and their trainers: permitting the mentally disabled a genuine and appropriate exercise of their rights' *Panorama series* 63: Thessaloniki, 5 and 6 July 2001

Cedefop, 2003a. Beating the odds Integrating people with disabilities into lifelong learning and the world of work. Policy, Practice and Partnership: Getting to work on Lifelong Learning, 2 and 3 June 2003 at Cedefop Thessaloniki Lifelong learning: thematic workshop report

Cedefop, 2003b. European Journal of Vocational training 29(3)

Cedefop, 2008. European Journal of Vocational training 45(3)

Cedefop and Education and Culture Lifelong Learning Programme, 2009. *Students with Special Needs: The Finnish Way of Action. A report.* Electronic source available online at: http://studyvisits.cedefop.europa.eu/ Last accessed September 2012



Citizens Information Board, (the) 2011. *EU Supplement Information* retrieved from www.citizensinformation.ie

Clifford, J., 2011. 'The EU disability convention and its impact on European equality law' the Equal Rights Review 6, 11–25

Cobb, R. B. and Alwell, M., 2009. 'Transition Planning/Coordinating Interventions for Youth with Disabilities: A Systematic Review' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 32, 70–81

Commission of the European Communities, 2003. Communication from the commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. *Equal opportunities for people with disabilities: A European Action Plan, Brussels, 30.10.2003 COM; 650 final*

Commission of the European Communities, 2006. Communication from the Commission to the Council, to the European Parliament: *Efficiency and equity in European education and training systems.* Brussels 08.09.2006 Electronic source available online at: ec.europa.eu/education/policies/2010/doc/comm481_en.pdf (Last accessed December 2009)

Commission of the European Communities, 2007. Communication from the commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social committee and the Committee of the Regions: Situation of disabled people in the European Union: the European Action Plan 2008–2009

Commission of the European Communities, 2007. Commission Staff Working Document: Progress towards the Lisbon objectives in education and training. Indicators and benchmarks

Commission of the European Communities, 2008. Communication from the commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European economic and the committee of the Regions. *An updated strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training*

Committee of Ministers, 1995. Resolution on a Charter on the Vocational Assessment of People with Disabilities Resolution (AP (95) 3) Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on 12 October 1995 at the 545th meeting of the Ministers' Deputies. http://cm.coe.int/ta/res/resAP/1995/95xp3.htm

Cook, J. A., 2006. 'Employment Barriers for Persons with Psychiatric Disabilities: Update of a Report for the President's Commission' *Psychiatric services* 57(10), 1391–1405

Cooper, H., 1998. Synthesizing Research: A Guide for Literature Reviews. Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA

Cooper, H., & Hedges, L. V., 1994. *The handbook of research synthesis.* New York: Russell Sage Foundation

Council of Europe, 1950. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. Treaty open for signature by the member States of the Council of Europe. Rome

Council of Europe, 1995. Resolution AP (95) 3 on a charter on the vocational assessment of people with disabilities (Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on 12 October 1995 at the 545th meeting of the Ministers' Deputies) Electronic source available online at: https://wcd.coe.int/com.instranet.InstraServlet?command=com.instranet.CmdBlobGet&Inst ranetImage=2036833&SecMode=1&DocId=528560&Usage=2



Council of Europe, 2003. Recommendation 1592. *Towards full social inclusion of people with disabilities*. Electronic source available online at: http://assembly.coe.int/main.asp?Link=/documents/adoptedtext/ta03/erec1592.htm Last accessed December 2009

Council of Europe, 2006. Recommendation of the Committee of Ministers to member states on the Council of Europe: action plan to promote the rights and full participation of people with disabilities in society: improving the quality of life of people with disabilities in Europe 2006–2015

Council of Europe, 2009. Access to rights for people with disabilities and their full and active participation in society. Reply from the Committee of Ministers adopted at the 1060th meeting of the Ministers' Deputies

Council of the European Union, 2004. Declaration of the Council and the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States, meeting within the Council on Racism and Intolerance in relation to Young People (doc. 9405/04 of 18 May 2004)

Council of the European Union, 2004. Council directive 2004/113/EC of 13 December 2004

Council of the European Union, 2008. Council Conclusions on 'Anticipating and matching labour market needs, with special emphasis on youth – A Jobs and Skills Initiative' 2876th Employment, social policy, health and consumer affairs, Council meeting Luxembourg, 9 June 2008

Cummings, R., Maddux, C. D. and Casey, J., 2000. 'Individualized transition planning for students with learning disabilities' *Career Development Quarterly* 49(1), 60–72

Daughtry, D., Gibson, J. and Abels, A., 2009. 'Mentoring students and professionals with disabilities' *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice* 40(2), 201–5

Dereka, M., 2001. 'Adult training centres and curriculum in Greece' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 16(1), 65–74

Devine, M. A. and Koch, L. C., 2003. 'Recreational planning: An important component of career counselling for people with disabilities' *Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment and Rehabilitation* 21(1), 83–8

Dipeolu, A. O., 2007. 'Career instruments and high school students with learning disabilities: Support for the utility of three vocational measures' *Journal of Career Development* 34(1), 598

Dixon, R. M. and Reddacliff, C. A., 2001. 'Family Contribution to the Vocational Lives of Vocationally Competent Young Adults with Intellectual Disabilities' *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education* 48(2) 193–206

Doren, B. and Benz, M. R., 1998. 'Employment inequality revisited: Predictors of better employment outcomes for young women with disabilities in transition' *Journal of Special Education* 31(4), 425

Eagleton, M., 2008. *Universal Design for learning. Special Education Universal Design for learning.* Research starters academic topic overviews. EBSCO Publishing

Eisenman, L. T., 2007. 'Self-determination interventions: Building a foundation for school completion' *Remedial and Special Education* 28(1), 2

Elksnin, N. E. and Elksnin, L. K., 2001. 'Adolescents With Disabilities: The Need for Occupational Social Skills Training' *Exceptionality* 9(1&2), 91–105



Engle, R., 2006. 'Framing interactions to foster generative learning: A situative explanation of transfer in a community of learners classroom' *Journal of the Learning Sciences* 15(4), 451–98

Estrada-Hernandez, N., Wadsworth, J. S., Nietupski, J. A., Warth, J. and Winslow, A., 2008. 'Employment or economic success: The experience of individuals with disabilities in transition from school to work' *Journal of Employment Counseling* 45, 11

European Commission, 1995. Decision No 819/95/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 March 1995 establishing the Community action programme 'Socrates', OJ L 87, 20.4.1995, pp. 10–24 (Socrates I) and Decision No 253/2000/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 January 2000 establishing the second phase of the Community action programme in the field of education 'Socrates', OJ L 28, 3.2.2000, 1–15 (Socrates II)

European Commission, 2000. Council Directive 2000/78/EC of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation Official Journal L 303, 02/12/2000 P. 0016 – 0022

European Commission, 2002. Declaration of the European Ministers of Vocational Education and Training and the European Commission, convened in Copenhagen on 29 and 30 November 2002, on enhanced European cooperation in vocational education and training 'The Copenhagen Declaration'. Electronic source available online at: http://ec.europa.eu/education/pdf/doc125_en.pdf Last accessed March 2012

European Commission, 2008. Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the establishment of the European Qualifications Framework for lifelong learning. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

European Commission, 2008. SEC(2007)1548. Commission staff working document accompanying document to the communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parlament, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Comitee of the Regions. Situation of disabled people in the European Union: the European Action plan 2008–09. Annexes

European Commission Unit for integration of people with disabilities and US Office for Disability and Employment Policy in the Department of Labour, 2009. *EU-US Seminar on Employment of Persons with Disabilities* (Brussels, 5–6 November 2009) Report

European Commission, 2009. Progress toward the Lisbon objectives in education and training. Analysis of implementation at the European and national levels COM (2009) http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=SEC:2009:1598:FIN:EN:PDF

European Commission, 2010a. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the council, the European Economic and social committee and the committee of the regions. A new impetus from European cooperation in Vocational Education and Training to support the Europe 2010 strategy

European Commission, 2010b. The Bruges Communiqué on enhanced European Cooperation in Vocational Education and Training for the period 2011–2020. Electronic source available online at: http://ec.europa.eu/education/lifelong-learning-policy/doc/vocational/bruges_en.pdf Last accessed March 2012

European Commission, 2010c. Communication from the Commission *Europe 2020 – A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth.* Electronic source available online at: http://www.europeanpaymentscouncil.eu/knowledge_bank_detail.cfm?documents_id=476 Last accessed September 2012



European Commission, 2010d. *EC Consultation in Preparation for a New EU Disability Strategy 2010–2020*. Electronic source available online at: http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docld=5356&langId=en Last accessed September 2012

European Council, 2000. Lisbon European Council, 23 and 24 March 2000. Presidency conclusion Draft. Electronic source available online at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/lis1 en.htm Last accessed August 2010

European Disability Forum, 2002. *Madrid Declaration – Non Discrimination Plus Positive Action Results in Social Inclusion*

European Parliament, 2007. *Pilot programme of traineeships for people with a disability – Information, Rules, Application* Electronic source available online at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/parliament/public/staticDisplay.do?id=147&pageRank=4&language=EN

European Parliament, 2010a. Resolution on EU 2020 strategy. RSP/2010/2543

European Parliament, 2010b. European cooperation in vocational education and training to support the Europe 2020 strategy. INI/2010/2234

European Parliament, 2010c. Key competences for a changing world: implementation of the education and training 2010 work programme. T7/0164/2010

European Parliament, 2010d. *EU strategy for Youth Investing and Empowering*. INI/2009/2159

European Social partners and the European Commission, 1996. The Helsinki Communiqué 'On Enhanced European Cooperation in Vocational Education and Training Communiqué of the European Ministers of Vocational Education and Training'

Evans, N. J., 2008. 'Theoretical foundations of Universal Instructional Design' In *Pedagogy* and student services for institutional transformation: Implementing Universal Design in Higher education. Highee J. L. and Goff, E. (Ed). Minneapolis: Regents of the University of Minnesota, Center for Research on Developmental Education and Urban Literacy

Fabregas-Fernandez, M. T., 2011. 'After the crisis financial sector reform in the EU' In Post crisis grogth and integration in Europe Catching up strategies in CESEE economies Nowotny, E., Moosletchner, P. and Ritzberger-Wunwald, D. (Ed.) Gloss: Edward Elgar publishing limited.

Fast, Y., 2004. Employment for individuals with Asperger syndrome or non verbal learning disability: stories and strategies. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers

Fernandez, S., Kovari, J., Vulterini, P. and Williams, V., 2002. 'Let's keep in contact with Europe – a joint European research project about lifelong education for adults with learning difficulties' *British Journal of Special Education* 29(2), 83–90

Field, S., Sarver, M. D. and Shaw, S. F., 2003. 'Self-determination: A key to success in post-secondary education for students with learning disabilities' *Remedial and Special Education* 24(6), 339

Figel, J., 2009. 'A life of learning for all'. *Adults Learning*. National Institute of Adults Continuing Education 20(5), 16–17

Fischbein, S. and Folkander, M., 2000. 'Reading and writing ability and drop out in the. Swedish upper secondary school' *Journal of Special Education* 15(3), 264–274



Freedman, D. H., 2008. *Improving skills and productivity of disadvantaged youth. Employment Sector*. Working Paper No. 7 (Transition from War to Peace) Recommendation ILO, No. 71, 1944

Furniss, F., Lancioni, G., Rocha, N., Cunha, B., Seedhouse, P. and O'Reilly, M. F., 2001. 'VICAID: Development and evaluation of a palmtop-based job aid for workers with severe developmental disabilities' *British Journal of Educational Technology* 32(3), 277–287

Gazzoli, G., Hancer, M. and Park, Y., 2010. 'Employee Empowerment and Customer Orientation: Effects of Workers' Attitudes in Restaurants' *International Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Administration* 34(1), 56–77

Gill, M., 2005. 'The myth of transition: Contractualizing disability in the sheltered workshop' *Disability & Society* 20(6), 613–23

Graham, L. J. and Jahnukainen, M., 2011. 'Wherefore art thou, inclusion? Analysing the development of inclusive education in New South Wales, Alberta and Finland' *Journal of education policy* 26(2), 263–288

Grant, J., 2008. 'Paid work – a valued social role that is empowering more people with an intellectual disability and providing employers with dedicated employees!' *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability* March 33(1), 95–97

Gresnigt, H. A. A., 2000. 'ICEVI Europe: Leading up to Cracow' *British Journal of Visual Impairment* 18(2), 51

Greve, B., 2009. The labour market situation of disabled people in European countries and implementation of employment policies: a summary of evidence from country reports and research studies. Report prepared for the Academic Network of European Disability experts (ANED)

Grigal, M. and Neubert, D. A., 2004. 'Parents' in-school values and post-school expectations for transition-aged youth with disabilities' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 27(1), 65

Grollmann, Ph., 2008. 'Professional competence as a benchmark for a European space of vocational education and training' *Journal of European Industrial Training* 32(9), 138–156

Grönvik, L., 2009. 'Defining disability: effects of disability concepts on research outcomes' *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 12(1), February, 1–18

Guralnick, M. J., 2001. 'A developmental systems model for early intervention' *Infants and Young Children* 14(2), 1–18

Guy, B. A., Sitlington, P. L., Larsen, M. D. and Frank, A. R., 2009. 'What are high schools offering as preparation for employment?' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 32(1), 30

Haber, G. D. and Sutherland, L., 2008. 'The Four A's of Managing the Placement and Service of Students with Disabilities in the CTE Classroom' *Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education* 31(1–3), 4–8

Hagner, D., McGahie, K. and Cloutier, H., 2001. 'A model career assistance process for individuals with severe disabilities' *Journal of Employment Counselling* 38(4), 197–206

Hakala, K., 2010. 'Discourses on inclusion, citizenship and categorization of special in education policy: the case of negotiating change in the governing of vocational special needs education in Finland' *European Educational Research Journal* 9(2), 269–283



Hayes, E. and Balacazar, F., 2008. Peer Mentoring and Disability current applications and future directions. In Kroll, T. Focus on disability. Trends in research and application. Volume 2. New York: Nova

Hershenson, D. B., 2005. 'INCOME: A Culturally Inclusive and Disability-Sensitive Framework for Organizing Career Development' *Concepts and Interventions* 54(2), 150–161

Higbee, J. L., 2003. *Curriculum transformation and disability: Implementing Universal Design in higher education* (pp. 285–290). Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, General College, Centre for Research on Developmental Education and Urban Literacy

Hirvonen, M., 2010. 'From vocational training to open learning environments: vocational special education during change' *Jorsen. Journal of research in special educational needs* 11(2), 141–148

Hitchings, W. E., Luzzo, D. A., Ristow, R., Horvath, M., Retish, P. and Tanners, A., 2001. 'The career development needs of college students with learning disabilities: In their own words' *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice* 16(1), 8–17

Hershenston, D. B., 2005. 'Income: a culturally inclusive and stability-sensitive framework for organizing career development concepts and interventions' *Career development quarterly* 54(2), 150–161

Hogstedt, C., Wegman, D. H. and Kjellstrom, T., 2007. *The consequences of economic globalisation on working conditions, labor relations and workers' health.* In Kawachi, I. and Wamal, S. (Ed) *Globalisation and Health.* Oxford: Oxford University Press

House of Commons Education Committee, 2011. *Participation by 16–19 year olds in education and training*. Fourth report of session 2010-12 Volume II. 16 March 2011

Howieson, C. and Semple, S., 2006. 'Career guidance in Scotland: Retrospect and prospect' *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling* 34(1), 31–53

Hutchinson, N. L., Versnel, J., Chin, P. and Munby, H., 2008. 'Negotiating accommodations so that work-based education facilitates career development for youth with disabilities' *Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment and Rehabilitation* 30(2), 123–36

Hyland, T., 2006. 'Vocational education and training and the therapeutic turn' *Educational Studies* 32(3), 299–306

ILO, 1983. Convention concerning Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment (Disabled Persons) Convention: C159 Date of adoption: 20:06:1983

ILO and Russell C., 1999a. 'Education, employment and training policies and programmes for youth with disabilities in four European countries Action Programme on Youth Unemployment' *Employment and training papers collection* 21

ILO and Foo Gaik Sim, 1999b. Integrating women and girls with disabilities into mainstream vocational training. A Practical Guide

ILO, 2000. Training for employment: Social inclusion, productivity and youth employment Human resources training and development. Vocational guidance and vocational training International Labour Conference. 88th Session, 30 May—15 June 2000. Report 5

ILO, 2003. Learning and training for work in the knowledge society Fourth item on the agenda International. Labour Conference 91st Session Geneva, June 2003



ILO, 2004. Recommendation concerning Human Resources Development: Education, Training and Lifelong Learning Recommendation: R195. Electronic source available online at: www.ilo.org/ilolex/cgi-lex/convde.pl?R195 Last accessed December 2011

ILO, 2008. Skills for improved productivity, employment growth and development. International Labour Conference, 97th Session

Isaksson, J., Lindqvist, R. and Bergström, E., 2007. 'School problems or individual shortcomings? A study of individual educational plans in Sweden' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 22(1), 75–91

Izzo, M. V., Cartledge, G., Miller, L., Growick, B. and Rutkowski, S., 2000. 'Increasing employment earnings: Extended transition services that make a difference' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 23(2), 139

Jahnukainen, M., 2001. 'Two models for preventing students with special needs from dropping out of education in Finland' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 16(3), 245–58

Jahnukainen, M. and Helander, J., 2007. 'Alternative vocational schooling for the droppedout: Students' perceptions of the activity school of east Finland' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 22(4), 471–82

Jones. P., 2005. 'Teachers' views of their pupils with profound and multiple learning difficulties' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 20(4), 375–385

Jones, G., 2006. 'Department for education and Skills/Department of health good practice guidance on the education of children with autistic spectrum disorder' *Child Care Health and Development* 32(5), 543

Kaikkonen, L., 2010. *Including students with special education needs in professional learning teachers*. In Forlin, C. (Ed.) *Teacher education for inclusion: Changing paradigms and innovative approaches*. Oxon: Routledge

Kanter, A. S., 2007. 'The Promise and Challenge of the Disability Convention on the right of person with disabilities'. *Syracuse J. Int'l L. & Com.* 34, 287–321

Karlsson, M., Björck-Åkesson, E., Granlund, M., 2008. 'Changing services to children with disabilities and their families through in-service training – is the organisation affected?' *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, Aug 23(3), 207–222

Karmel, T. and Maclen, R., 2007. *Technical and vocational education and training in an ageing society: Experts meeting proceedings*. Adelaide: The National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER)

Kemp, S. E., 2006. 'Dropout policies and trends for students with and without disabilities' *Adolescence* 41(162) (Summer), 235–50

Kemppainen, E., 2011. 'The legal and policy baseline: 25 years of e-accessibility policies and legislation in Europe' *Technology and Disability* 23(2011), 139–148

Kicken, W., Brand-Gruwel, S., Van Merriënboer, J. and Slot, W., 2009. 'Design and evaluation of a development portfolio: How to improve e students' self-directed learning skills' *Instructional Science* 37(5), 453–73

Kivirauma, J., 1997. 'Special education students in the labour market: Four case studies' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 12(2), 148–56



Koblik, M., Kidd, S. A., Glodberg, J. O. and Losier, B., 2009. 'So I Wouldn't Feel Like I Was Excluded: The Learning Experience in Computer Education for Persons with Psychiatric Disabilities' *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 32(4), 306–308

Kroll, T., 2008. 'Rehabilitative needs of individuals with spinal cord injury resulting from gun violence: the perspective of nursing and nursing and rehabilitation professionals' *Applied Nursing Research* 21, 45–49

Kuijpers, M., Meijers, F. and Gundy, C., 2011. 'The relationship between learning environment and career competencies of students in vocational education' *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 78, 21–30

Kupfer, A., 2009. The Changing Skill Formation and Consequences for Equal Opportunity Paper presented in Ecer The European Conference on Educational Research 2009, Vienna, Austria from 25–26 September 2009 (Pre-conference) and 28–30 September 2009 (Main Conference)

Lacioni, G. E., O'Reilly, M. F., Oliva, D., 2002. 'Engagement in Cooperative and Individual Tasks: Assessing the Performance and Preferences of Persons with Multiple Disabilities' *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness* Jan, 96(1), 50–53

Laragy, C., 2004. 'Self-determination within Australian school transition programmes for students with a disability' *Disability & Society* 19(5), 519–30

Lattimore, L. P., Parsons, M. B., Reid, D. H. and Ahearn, W., 2006. 'Enhancing job-site training of supported workers with autism: A reemphasis on simulation' *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis* 39(1), 91

Lauterbach U. and Sellin, B., 2000. 'Comparative vocational education and training research in Europe: balance and perspective' In *Trends of convergence and divergence in the systems of education and vocational education and training of the Member States of the European Union*, Thessaloniki: Cedefop, p. 132–150

Lemaire, G. S., Mallik, K. and Stoll, B. G., 2002. 'Expanding horizons: A model academic and vocational training program for out-of-school youth with disabilities' *The Journal of Rehabilitation* 68(2), 39–46

Leonardo Da Vinci, 1996. *Agora. Vocational training arrangements for persons disadvantaged on the labour market.* General information: Contract number: GR/96/1/00001/PI/I.1.1.e/FPI

Leonardo da Vinci, 2001. *Vomasi. Employment of persons with developmental disabilities: vocational mobility and social inclusion.* Project Reference: QLG5-CT-2001-30032

Lewis, T., 1998. 'Vocational education as general education' *Curriculum Inquiry.* 28(3), 283–309

Lifshitz, H. and Klein, P. S., 2007. 'Comparison of mediation between paraprofessionals and individuals with intellectual disability: vocational rehabilitation centres versus special education schools' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 22(4), 459–470

Lindstrom, L. E., Benz, M. R. and Doren, B., 2004. 'Expanding career options for young women with learning disabilities' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 27(1), 43

Lindstrom, L., Doren. B., Metheny, J., Johnson, P. and Zane, C., 2007. 'Transition to employment; role of the family in career development' *Exceptional children* 73(3), 348–266

Lisbon Council, 2009. *EU 2020: Why Skills are Key for Europe's Future.* Policy Brief, Electronic source available online at: http://www.lisboncouncil.net/publication/publication/54-skillseuropesfuture.html Last accessed September 2012

Little, B. M., 2011. 'Employability for the workers – what does this mean?' *Education* + *Training* 53(1), 57–66

Ljungberg, I., Kroll, T., Libin, A. and Gordon, S., 2011. 'Using peer mentoring for people with spinal cord injury to enhance self-efficacy beliefs and prevent medical complications' *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 20(3-4), 351–358

Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T. and Voegtle, K. H., 2010. *Methods in educational research from theory to practice*. Second edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass

Lovitt, T. C. and Cushing, S., 1999. 'Parents of youth with disabilities: Their perceptions of school programs' *Remedial and Special Education* 20(3), 134

Lucas, P., Baird, J., Arai, L., Law, C. and Roberts, H., 2007. 'Worked examples of alternative methods for the synthesis of qualitative and quantitative research in systematic reviews' *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 7, 4

Lundine, V. and Smith, C., 2006. Career Training and Personal Planning for Students with Autism Spectrum Conditions: A Practical Resource for Schools. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers

Lusk, S. L. and Cook, D., 2009. 'Enhancing career exploration, decision making and problem solving of adolescent girls with disabilities' *Journal of vocational rehabilitation* 31(3), 145–153

Lustig, D. C. and Strauser, D. R., 2003. 'An Empirical Typology of Career Thoughts of Individuals with Disabilities' *Rehabilitation Counselling Bulletin* 46(2), 98–107

McDaid, D. and Matosevic, T., 2008. *Analysis of focus group results from the Optiwork project.* London: London School of Economics and Political Science

Mack, P. and Thomas, J., 2008. 'Picture this...' Adults Learning May, 19(9), 26–27

Maclean, R. and Lai, A., 2011. 'Future of Technical and Vocational Education and Training: Global challenges and possibilities' *International Journal of Training Research* 9(1–2), 2–15

MacNaughton, D. and Arnold, A., 2000. 'Supporting Positive Employment Outcomes for Individuals Who Use AAC' *Perspectives on Augmentative and Alternative Communication* 19, 51–59

Mansell, R. and Steinmueller, E., 2000. *Mobilizing the information society Strategies for growth and opportunity*. Oxford: Oxford University Press

Makin, T., 2001. 'The social model of disability' In *Counselling The BACP counselling Reader*. Volume 2. Milner, P. and Palmer, S. (Ed.) London: Sage

Markussen, E., 2004. 'Special education: Does it help? A study of special education in Norwegian upper secondary schools' *European Journal of Special Needs Education* 19(1), 33–48

Martin, J. E., Van Dycke, J., D'Ottavio, M. and Nickerson, K., 2007. 'The student-directed summary of performance: Increasing student and family involvement in the transition planning process' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 30(1), 13

McDonnall, M. C. and Crudden, A., 2009. 'Factors Affecting the Successful Employment of Transition-Age Youths with Visual Impairments' *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*

Mcguire, J. M., Scott, S. S., Shaw, S. F., 2006. 'Universal design and its applications in educational environments' *Remedial and special education* 27, 166–175

Mei, L., 1994. *Project Blend 1993–94*. Report. Office of Educational Research, 110 Livingston Street, Room 740, Brooklyn, NY 11201

Mellard, D. F. and Lancaster, P. E., 2003. 'Incorporating adult community services in students' transition planning' *Remedial and Special Education* 24(6), 359

Ministerio de Educacion Gobierno de España, 2011. Overcoming school failure: policies that work. Spanish National Report. OECD publications. Electronic source available online: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/60/61/48631820.pdf

Mitchell, W., 1999. 'Leaving special school: The next step and future aspirations' *Disability* & *Society* 14(6), 753–70

Mosson, J. P. and Fretwell, D. H., 2009. 'The European Union: Supporting Technical and Vocational Education' *Techniques: Connecting Education & Careers* Oct. 84(7), 48–51

Mulder, M., Weigel, T. and Collins, K., 2007. 'The concept of competence in the development of vocational education and training in selected EU member states: a critical analysis' *Journal of Vocational Education & Training* 59(1), 67–88

Mwachofi, A. K., 2009. 'Gender difference in access and intervention outcomes: the case for women with disabilities' *Disability and Rehabilitation* 31(9), 693–700

Nagle, J. P., 2001. Voices from the Margins; the histories of vocational school students London: Peter Lang Publishing

Neumark, D. and Nizalova, O., 2007. 'Minimum wage effects in the longer run' *The journal of Human Resources* 2, 435–452

Niesz, T., Koch, L. and Rumrill, P. D., 2008. 'The empowerment of people with disabilities through qualitative research' *Work* 31, 113–125

Nietupski, J. A., 2008. 'Connecting students to careers' *Techniques: Connecting Education and Careers* 83(2), 4

Noonan, B. M., Gallor S. M., Hensler-McGinnis N. F., Fassinger R. E., Wang S. and Goodman, J., 2004. 'Challenge and success: A qualitative study of the career development of highly achieving women with physical and sensory disabilities' *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 51, 68–80

Nora L. and Soresi S., 2009. 'Ideas and thoughts of Italian teachers on the professional future of persons with disability' *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research* 53(1), 65–77

Nygren, U., Markström, U., Svensson, B., Hansson, L. and Sandlund, M., 2011. 'Individual placement and support – a model to get employed for people with mental illness – the first Swedish report of outcomes' *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 25(3), 591–598

O'Gorman, E. and Drudy, S., 2011. *Professional Development for Teachers Working in Special Education/Inclusion in Mainstream Schools: The Views of Teachers and Other Stakeholders*. A Research Report Part Funded by the National Council for Special Education, Special Education Research Initiative

Ochs, L. A. and Roessler, R. T., 2001. 'Students with disabilities: How ready are they for the 21st century?' *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin* 44(3), 170

Odom, S., & McEvoy, M., 1990. 'Mainstreaming at the preschool level: Potential barriers and tasks for the field' *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education* 10, 48–61

OECD, 2004. Equity in Education. Students with Disabilities, Learning Difficulties and Disadvantages. Paris

OECD, 2007. Qualifications Systems: Bridges to Lifelong Learning, Paris: OECD



OECD and European Commission, 2009. Students with disabilities, learning difficulties and disadvantages in the Baltic States, South Eastern Europe and Malta. Educational Policies and indicators. Paris; OECD Publishing

OECD, 2009. Sickness, Disability and Work keeping the track in the economic downturn. High-Level Forum, Stockholm, 14–15 May 2009

Official Journal of the European Union, 2000. Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union OJ C 364, 18.12.2000

Official Journal of the European Union, 2004. Decision No 791/2004/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 April 2004 establishing a Community action programme to promote bodies active at European level and support specific activities in the field of education and training OJ L 138 of 30.04.2004

Official Journal of the European Union, 2003. Council Resolution of 19 December 2002 on the promotion of enhance European cooperation in vocational education and training series, number 13 of 19 of December 2002, p. 2

Official Journal of the European Union, 2007. Resolution of the Council and of the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States, meeting within the Council, of 25 May 2007 on creating equal opportunities for all young people — full participation in society, C series, number 313 of 22 of December 2007, p. 1

Official Journal of the European Union, 2008. *Vocational Education and training, VET:* Establishing European Quality assurance reference Framework, C series, number 155 of 8 of July, p. 2

Official Journal of the European Union, 2009. Recommendation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the establishment of a European Credit System for Vocational Education and Training (ECVET), C series, number 155 of 18 of June 2009, p. 11. Final Legislative act

Official Journal of the European Union, 2011. *Tackling early school leaving* T7-0531. End of procedure in Parliament

Peters, S. and Oliver, L. A., 2009. 'Achieving quality and equity through inclusive education in an era of high-stakes testing' *Prospects* 39(3), 265–279

Pfahl. L., & Powell. J. J. W., 2011. 'Legitimating school segregation. The special education profession and the discourse of learning disability in Germany' *Disability & Society* 26(4), 449–462

Pohl, A. and Walther, A., 2007. 'Activating the disadvantaged. Variations in addressing youth transitions across Europe' *International Journal of Lifelong Education* 26(5), 21

Polat, F., Kalambouka, A. and Boyle, B., 2004. 'After secondary school what? The transition of deaf young people from school to independent living' *Deafness and Education International* 6(1), 1–19

Potts, B., 2005. 'Disability and employment: Considering the importance of social capital' *The Journal of Rehabilitation* 71(3), 20–6

Powers, T. and ILO, 2008. Employment Sector Employment Working Paper No. 3 Recognizing ability: The skills and productivity of persons with disabilities. Literature review. Geneva: ILO

Powers, K., Hogansen, J., Geenen, S., Powers, L. E. and Gil-Kashiwabara, E., 2008. 'Gender matters in transition to adulthood: A survey study of adolescents with disabilities and their families' *Psychology in the Schools* 45(4), 349



Quisumbing, L. R. and Leo de, J., 2005. Learning to do Values for learning and working together In a globalised world an integrated approach to incorporating values education in technical and vocational education and training. Report prepared by the Asia Pacific Networking together for International Education and Values Education in Partnership with Unesco – Unevoc International Centre for Technical and Vocational Education and Training Sourcebook: Bonn, Germany

Raffe, D., 2009. Can National Qualifications Frameworks be Used to Change Education and Training Systems? No. 48. June 2009. Briefing is based on a workshop presentation to the SCQF Partnership International Conference, Glasgow, March 2009. A longer and more developed version of the paper will be published as a Discussion Paper by the ILO project on The Implementation and Impact of NQFs

Redecker, C. and Punie, Y., 2010. 'Sustaining TEL: From Innovation to Learning and Practice. Learning 2.0 Promoting Innovation in Formal Education and Training in Europe' Lecture Notes in *Computer Science*, 6383, 308–323

Redley, M., 2009. 'Understanding the social exclusion and stalled welfare of citizens with learning disabilities' *Disability & Society* 24(4), 489–501

Richards, A. M., 2004. 'Rural transition: Know No Bounds' *Rural Special Education Quarterly* 23(3), 36–40

Roggero, P., Tarricone, R., Nicoli, M. and Mangiaterra, V., 2006. 'What do people think about disabled youth and employment in developed and developing countries?' Results from an e-discussion hosted by the World Bank. *Disability & Society* 21(6), 645–50

Rojewski, J.W., 2002. 'Career assessment for adolescents with mild disabilities: Critical concerns for transition planning' *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals* 25(1), 73

Rose, R., Kaikkonen, L., Köiv, K., 2007. 'Estonian vocational teachers' attitudes towards inclusive education for students with special educational needs' *International Journal of Special Education* 22(3), 97–108

Rosenfeld, S. A., Liston. C. D. and Shapiro H., 2008. Further education in Denmark. Global development of community colleges, technical colleges and further education programs. (Ed.) Paul A. Elsner, George R. Boggs and Judith T. Irwin. Washington: Community college press

Rossello Ramon, R., Verger Gelabert, S., 2008. 'Including people with disabilities into the workplace in the Balearic Islands' *European journal of vocational training* 45(3) 164–181

Ruggeri-Stevens, G. and Goodwin, S., 2007. 'Learning to work in small businesses: Learning and training for young adults with learning disabilities' *Education + Training* 49(8/9), 745–55

Russell, L., Simmons, R. and Thompson, R., 2011. 'Ordinary lives: an ethnographic study of young people attending Entry to Employment programmes' *Journal of Education and Work*

Rylance, B. J., 1998. 'Predictors of post high school employment for youth identified as severely emotionally disturbed' *The Journal of Special Education* 32(3) 184–192

Sandelowski, M. and Barroso, J., 2007. *Handbook for synthesizing qualitative research*. New York: Springer

Sapir, A., 2006. Globalization and the Reform of European Social Models* JCMS 2006 Volume 44. Number 2. pp. 369–90

Schalock, R. L. and Kelly. C., 1999. 'Sociocultural factors influencing social and vocational inclusion of persons with mental retardation: a cross-cultural study' In P. Retish & S. Reiter (Eds.) *Adults with disabilities: International perspectives in the community* (pp. 309–324) New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates

Schlicht, R., Stadelmann-Steffen, I. and Freitag, M., 2010. *Educational Inequality in the EU. The Effectiveness of the National Education Policy*. European Union Politics March 11(1), 29–59

Schmidt, M. A. and Smith, D. L., 2007. 'Individuals with disabilities perceptions on preparedness for the workforce and factors that limit employment' *Work* 28 (2007) 13–21

Schoger, Kimberly, D., 2006. 'Reverse Inclusion: Providing Peer Social Interaction Opportunities to Students Placed in Self-Contained Special Education Classrooms' *Teaching Exceptional Children Plus* 2(6), 3. Electronic source available at: http://journals.cec.sped.org/tecplus/vol2/iss6/art3

Shah S., 2005. Career success of disabled high-flyers. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers

Shima, I., Zólyomi, E. and Zaidi, A., 2008. *The Labour Market Situation of People with Disabilities*. In EU25, European Centre. Electronic source available at: http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/index/comp_disb_final_en.pdf

Shmitz, S. J., Rush, D. K., 2009. *Universal Instructional Design: Engaging the Whole Class*. ExpressO Electronic source available at: http://works.bepress.com/suzanne_schmitz/1

Shpigelman, C. N., Reiter, S. and Weiss, P. L., 2008. 'E-mentoring for youth with special needs: Preliminary results' *CyberPsychology & Behavior* 11(2), 196–200

Simmons, R., 2009. 'Entry to employment: Discourses of inclusion and employability in work-based learning for young people' *Journal of Education and Work* 22(2), 137–51

Sitlington, P. L. and Clark, G. M., 2001. 'Career/Vocational assessment: A critical component of transition planning' Assessment for Effective Intervention 26(4), 5–22

Soler, R., Dieste, B. and Lorente, P., 2010. *The Treatment of Special Education in The Spanish Educative System*. Proceedings 2nd Paris International Conference on Education, Economy and Society – 2010

Soresi, S., Nota, L., Ferrary, L., Solberg, V. S., 2008. 'Career guidance for persons with disabilities' In Athanasou, J. A. and Esbroeck, R. V. Netherland (Ed.) *International handbook of career guidance*. Springer

Soriano, V., 2002. Transition from school to employment: Main problems, issues and options faced by students with special educational needs in 16 European countries. Summary report, European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, Middelfart

Soriano, V., 2006. *Individual transition plans: Supporting the move from school to employment*. Middelfart: European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education

Starcic, A. I. and Niskala, M., 2010. 'Vocational students with severe learning difficulties learning on the Internet' *British Journal of Educational Technology* Nov 2010, Vol. 41 Issue 6, p. E155–E159

Stern, D., Bailey, T. and Merrit, D., 1994. *School-to-Work Policy Insights from Recent International Developments*. National Centre for Research in Vocational Education Graduate School of Education University of California at Berkeley



Stevens, P. and Martin, N., 1999. 'Supporting individuals with intellectual disability and challenging behaviour in integrated work settings: an overview and a model for service provision' *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research* 43(1) 19–29

Stowitschek, J. J., Lovitt, T. C. and Rodriguez, J. A., 2001. 'Patterns of collaboration in secondary education for youth with special needs: Profiles of three high schools' *Urban Education* 36(1), 93–128

Strobel, W., Arthanat, S., Bauer, S., Flagg, J., 2007. 'Universal design for learning: critical areas need for people with disabilities' *Assistive technology outcomes and benefits* 4(1) Fall (81–99)

Tamol, S., 2007. 'High school graduation – and then what?' Exceptional Parents 37(10), 2

Taylor, B. J., McGilloway, S. and Donnelly, M., 2004. 'Preparing young adults with disability for employment' *Health and Social Care in the Community* 12(2), 93–101

Taylor, M., Ayala, G. and Pinsent-Johnson, C., 2009. 'Understanding learning transfer in employment preparation programmes for adults with low skills' *Journal of Vocational Education and Training* 61(1), 1–13

Tchibozo, G., 2011. 'Emergence and outlook of competence-based education in European education systems: an overview' *Education, Knowledge and Economy'* Special Issue: *Meeting the Challenges of Diversity, E-Learning and Competences* 4(3)

Thomas, J. and Harden, A., 2008. 'Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews' *BCM Medical Research Methodology* 8(45)

Tomblin, M. J. and Haring, K. A., 1999. 'Vocational training for students with learning disabilities: A qualitative investigation' *Journal of Vocational Education and Training* 51(3), 357–370

Tomblin, M. and Haring, K. A., 2000. 'Performance of job-related skill training for young people with disabilities' *Journal of vocational education and training* 52(2), 295–304

Tomlinson, S. (2005) *Education in a Post-Welfare State*, [2nd Edition] Maidenhead, Berks: Open University Press

Trainor, A. A., 2005. 'Self-Determination Perceptions and Behaviours of Diverse Students with LD During the Transition Planning Process' *Journal of Learning Disabilities* 38(3), 233–249

Tsiantis, J., Diareme, S., Giannakopoulou, D. and Soumaki, E., 2006. 'Progress in intellectual disabilities in Greece Diagnostic, educational and vocational services' *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities* 10(2), 99–104

Turner, S., Craig Unkefer, L., Ervin Cichy, B. and Peper, C., 2011. 'Career interest and self-estimated abilities of young adults with disabilities' *Journal of Career Assessment* May 19(2), 183–196

UNESCO, 2002. Technical and vocational education and training in the twenty-first century. New roles and challenges for guidance and counselling

UNESCO, 2004a. The Bonn Declaration. A UNESCO International meeting of technical and vocational education and training experts

UNESCO, 2004b. *Normative instruments concerning technical and vocational education.* Revised recommendation concerning technical and vocational education (2001) and Convention on technical and vocational education (1989) UNESCO

UNESCO, 2005. Secondary Education reform. Towards a convergence and knowledge acquisition and skill development. Document ED-2005/WS/37



UNESCO, 2009. *UNESCO World conference on Education for sustainable development.* 31 march – 2 April. Bonn Germany. http://www.esd-world-conference-2009.org/en/background-information/other-unesco-education-world-conferences.html

UNESCO and Adams, A. V., 2011. 2012/ED/EFA/MRT/PI/04 Background paper prepared for the education for all global monitoring report 20120

United Nations, 1993. The Standard Rules on the Equalization of Opportunities for persons with disabilities. Adopted by the United Nations General Assembly, forty-eighth session, resolution 48/96, Annex, of 20 December 1993

United Nations, 2006. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. New York: United Nations. Electronic source available at: http://www.un.org/disabilities/convention/conventionfull.shtml

Van Grinsven, L. and Tillema, H., 2006. 'Learning opportunities to support student self-regulation: Comparing different instructional formats' *Educational Research* 48(1), 77–91

Vila, M., Pallisera, M. and Fullana, J., 2007. 'Work integration of people with disabilities in the regular labour market: What can we do to improve these processes?' *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability* 32(1), 10–8

Wagner, M. and Davis, M., 2006. 'How are we preparing students with emotional disturbances for the transition to young adulthood? Findings from the national longitudinal transition study–2' *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders* 14(2), 86–98

Waite, S., Lawson, H. and Robertson, C., 2006. 'Work-related learning for students with significant learning difficulties: Relevance and reality' *Cambridge Journal of Education* 36(4), 579–95

Walker, A., 2009. 'Ageing Europe – ensuring sustainable social protection' In Alvarez Gomez, M. and Paredes Martin, M. C. *La filosofia de la historia a partir de Hegel*. Salamanca: Ediciones Universidad de Salamanca

Warnock, M., 2010. 'Response to Brahm Norwich' In Mary Warnock and Brahm Norwich. Special educational needs a new look. Second Edition. London: Continuum international publishing group

Weeks, L., Shane, C., MacDonald, F. and Hart, C., 2006. 'Learning from the experts: people with learning difficulties training and learning from each other' *British Journal of Learning Disabilities* 34(1), 49–55

Wehmeyer, M. L., 2004. 'Self-determination and the empowerment of people with disabilities' *American Rehabilitation* Autumn 28(1), 22–29

Westerlund, D., Granucci, E. A., Gamache, P. and Clark, H. B., 2006. 'Effects of peer mentors on work-related performance of adolescents with behavioural and/or learning disabilities' *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions* 8(4), 244

Whelley, T. A., Radtke, R., Burgstahler, S. and Christ, T. W., 2003. 'Mentors, advisers, role models and peer supporters: Career development relationships and individuals with disabilities' *American Rehabilitation* 27(1), 42–9

Woessmann, L., 2008. 'Efficiency and equity of European education and training policies' *International Tax and Public Finance* 15(2), 199–230

Wojecki, A., 2007. 'What's identity got to do with it, anyway? Constructing adult learner identities in the workplace' *Studies in the Education of Adults* 39(2), 168–182

Wood, S. J. and Cronin, M. E., 1999. 'Students with emotional/behavioural disorders and transition planning: What the follow-up studies tell us' *Psychology in the Schools* 36(4), 327–45



Yanchak, K. V., Lease, S. H. and Strauser, D. R., 2005. 'Relation of disability type and career thoughts to vocational identity' *Rehabilitation Counselling Bulletin* 48(3), 130

The evidence suggests that several factors are essential in order to improve the quality of Vocational Education and Training services offered for learners with special educational needs. This document focuses on the needs of this group in different contexts and the factors that play a critical role in their vocational education and training and their future working conditions. These factors have been analysed through different examples from academic research, implemented by different European countries.

This report contains a critical review of the literature on field studies of Vocational Education and Training related issues for learners with special educational needs, covering two priority areas: the key factors that facilitate vocational educational and training for learners with special education needs, and the relationship with the labour market and key challenges. The report has been conducted within the Agency's approved Multi-annual Work Programme (2007–2013), and the review is intended to complement the Vocational Education and Training – Policy and Practice in the field of Special Needs Education (VET) project. It is hoped that the emerging key issues will inform policy makers, practitioners, researchers and others that play an essential role in the provision of quality VET services to this group of learners.